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Thursday, August 18, 2005


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:00 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  Today is the fourth day of the hearing of this application EB-2005‑0001 and EB-2005‑0437 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution.  And this morning we will continue cross‑examination on issue 11, EnVision.


Before we begin that, I wanted to make a comment about schedule.  I know that the parties are working on the schedule and we hope to see that tomorrow.  I wanted to let you know that the Board originally didn't anticipate sitting in September on this matter, so we have some scheduling difficulties.  So I wanted to give you a heads up on the few days that we won't be available.  We won't be available on the 6th and 7th of September, and I am seized of another matter on the week of the 19th.


Beyond that, there will be some days where we will have to sit half days, and there might be some other days that we cannot sit.


Today we will try to break somewhere around 10:30 and aim for lunch at 9 o'clock -- or 12 o'clock.  Nine o'clock would be a little early.  Twelve o'clock.


Mr. Cass, do you have any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. CASS:  I have one small preliminary matter, Madam Chair.  Might I just clarify what you said about the schedule, if you don't mind?


MS. NOWINA:  Sure.


MR. CASS:  When you said seized of another matter the week of September 19th, does that mean the entire week is unavailable, or it's unknown at this time how much of the week?


MS. NOWINA:  It's unknown at this time.  It's another hearing.  We anticipate it could go from three to five days, so the last two days of the week may free themselves up, but it's too early to tell.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  The one preliminary matter I had related to questions that were asked at the end of the day yesterday.  The Board will recall that as cross‑examination adjourned at the end of the day yesterday, there were some outstanding questions that had not yet been answered, but were not given an undertaking number.  They were just outstanding questions.


The panel has prepared, in fact, a document to respond to those questions, and I have passed copies around.  I think it would probably be appropriate to give the document an exhibit number.


MR. BATTISTA:  We can give that exhibit no. K4.1.  How would you like to characterize that?


MR. CASS:  The wording on the document is:  Costs to rate base for EnVision.


MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.


EXHIBIT NO. K4.1:  COSTS TO RATE BASE FOR ENVISION

MS. NOWINA:  K4.1.  Any preliminary matters, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  No, thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  I believe then we are going to continue with Mr. Warren's cross‑examination.


ENVISION PANEL 1; Resumed:


Arunas Pleckaitis; Previously Sworn


Janet Holder; Previously Sworn


Lloyd Chiotti; Previously Sworn


Catherine McCowan; Previously Sworn


Dennis Bruce; Previously Sworn

CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:

MR. WARREN:  Thank you, members of the panel.  Mr. Kelly, thank you for preparing Exhibit K4.1, but if we could put it aside for the moment, because I'm going to try almost certainly unsuccessfully, but I will try and go at the EnVision issue in, I hope, a systematic and orderly way.  And in order to do that, before I got to the final questions yesterday, you and I were dealing with the -- what I will call the five components of the Envision project, and then looking at page 10 of the booklet of materials I provided yesterday, we were looking at a pie chart, which showed the break down of the Accenture fees related to each of those components.  Do you recall that?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  What I would like to do, then, with that, before I get to this morning's exhibit, is I would like to have you first keeping in mind the pie chart exhibit, which, by the way, I add up to a total of approximately $131 million total.  Is that roughly correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  I think it is actually about 123.


MR. WARREN:  123, you're right.  Now, there are at various points in the evidence references to a total cost over the life of the project, in terms of Accenture fees, of 131 million. 


With some difficulty, I could find that number in here, but do you recall, Mr. Chiotti, hearing or seeing the number of $131 million as a total for the Accenture project?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's not a number that we have stated in evidence.  I believe ‑ and this is only an assumption on my part - that somewhere along the line someone, I actually believe it perhaps was Mr. Stephens in his evidence, had taken the $123 million as represented in that pie chart and had added 7.8 million of fees at risk, to arrive at the $131 million.  I believe that is where that number came from.


MR. WARREN:  But the Board, as it sits here today, should understand that the Accenture agreement contemplates an all-in cost over the life of the project of 123 million; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct, subject to changes and so on.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I would like you, then, if you wouldn't mind, to turn back to the preceding page in that exhibit, which is page 9.  And keeping in mind that this is last year's evidence, and we'll certainly get to this year's analysis, but I just want to begin by asking you how you get from the $123 million and the costs for the five components to the annual Accenture fees ‑‑ sorry, Accenture costs which are shown on page 9 of that exhibit.


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  Just give me a moment.


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. CHIOTTI:  Sorry for that delay.  Okay, let me see if I can break this down for you.  Each component of the Accenture fees, as broken down on page 10 in that pie chart, are recovered through payment schedules associated with each of those components.


Recall that this initiative, at least with respect to our engagement with Accenture, is based on an application services provider concept.  Accenture is, in fact, making capital investments in hardware, software, et cetera, that constitutes the applications that we are building, and then they are operating those systems for us and charging us a fee‑for‑service to do that.


If I take work in asset management implementation, the 30 million piece of the pie chart, that amount is spread over a seven-year period beginning in 2003.  The work and assets management operations, the $40 million, is spread over the full length of the contract, the ten years, at $4 million a year.  


The field force transformation implementation at $12 million is actually spread over two years, which would have been the 2004/2005 period.  FFT operations is spread over also the ten‑year period of the contract, and management assistance, which we only contemplated for seven years of the ten‑year term, is spread over that period of time.


When you take all of those payment streams and do the math and add it all up on a year-by-year basis, you arrive at the numbers that we show on the EnVision cost and benefits table.


MR. WARREN:  Let's just take ‑‑ looking at page 9, let's just take 2004.  The Accenture fees component of 2004 is 18.5; correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's right.


MR. WARREN:  In light of your last answer, am I to understand that that 2004 figure, the 18.5, would have within it elements of all five components of the EnVision project?


MR. CHIOTTI:  I just have to check the fee schedules to make absolutely sure of that.


MR. WARREN:  Were the fee schedules in evidence at some point, Mr. Chiotti?  I've been through the 1500 pages or so, but I couldn’t see them.  But that doesn't mean I didn't miss it.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  The fee schedules are part of the services agreement with Accenture.  That agreement is considered to be confidential.  I believe, in 2005, we filed that document as a confidential document, with a limited number of intervenors having access to it, if I'm not mistaken.

     MR. WARREN:  Okay. 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  And, actually, I don't have that with me here.  

     MR. WARREN:  If we were to look at the fee schedule, Mr. Chiotti, would we be able to tell, for each of the years of the EnVision project, both past and the ones to come, how much money -- the amount of the Accenture fees in each year for each component of the five components of the EnVision project? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, you could.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I'm wondering if, on a confidential basis, that fee schedule could be filed as an exhibit in this proceeding? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Here again, when it comes to any matters associated with the services agreement, the document is considered confidential, particularly by Accenture.  We would need to discuss that with them and get their concurrence.  

     MR. WARREN:  I wonder if I -- Madam Chair, if -- 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  If I could just interject on that, I think that, given that Accenture had already -- in a previous hearing had agreed, subject to the appropriate confidentiality agreements being in place, I don't see any reason that, under the same conditions, the fee schedule could not be made available.  

     MR. WARREN:  I wonder, Madam Chair, if we could get an undertaking to file that fee schedule, subject to what I’ll call the “standard” confidentiality provisions, which are that counsel would sign the undertakings of non-disclosure.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Fine.  

     Mr. Cass? 

     MR. CASS:  Yes, I think that’s fine, Madam Chair.  I'm just -- given Mr. Pleckaitis's answer - maybe this is lawyer's excess of caution - I’m just wondering, whether at the earlier opportunity, we could maybe make a phone call to Accenture's lawyer to confirm that with them.  But I don't anticipate that there would be any difficulty, and I wonder if the undertaking could be given just with the proviso that we will try to make that phone call at the earliest possible opportunity.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Fine.  

     Why don't you go ahead and assign the undertaking number. 

     MR. BATTISTA:  So that would be Undertaking J4.1, and it can be characterized as file Accenture - EnVision fee schedule, subject to -- 

     MR. CASS:  Subject to check with Accenture's counsel.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.1:  ACCENTURE-ENVISION FEE SCHEDULE, FILED SUBJECT TO CHECK WITH ACCENTURE’S COUNSEL AS TO CONFIDENTIALITY 

MR. WARREN:  Now, Mr. Chiotti, I wonder if, then, I could take you to this year's filing, which is marked as Exhibit A6, tab 5, schedule 2, and ask you to turn up page 3.   

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  When I look at this, if I compare it, for example, to the document we were just looking at, which is on Page 9, which is last year's break-out of EnVision costs and benefits, I see that there are some additional categories.  For example, looking at 2004 -- does the panel have that document in front of them now? 

     Looking at this year's breakout, I see some additional categories.  For example, in 2004, we have a budget of 18.5, and then an actual of 21.8.  Can you explain that difference, please?  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  And, in fact, those variances are explained in more detail on page 4 of the evidence, table 2.  

     As I indicated, the fixed price arrangement with Accenture is subject to scope changes, and there is a change order process that has been detailed in the services agreement to govern how we deal with those.  

     During the course of the development of the work-and-asset-management portion of the system, there were, indeed, some scope changes that arose.  There were some change orders that were raised, and the difference in the 18.5 and the 21.8 million is, in fact, the value of those change orders.  And in the variance explanations, you will see that 1.95 million of that was associated with a change order associated with the delay in the implementation of work-and-asset- management, from the original July target date to the October 25th target date.  

     Other change orders totalling approximately $1.3 million related to other scope changes that we identified as we proceeded through the more detailed analysis and definition of the solution, and the actual building and implementation of it.  And they're detailed there, in that table.  

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chiotti, my intuitive understanding of a change order - and please correct me if I'm wrong in this - would be -- for example, as you're working through the project, you see that something different than what you had anticipated is required, and EnVision -- sorry, Accenture is required to provide a somewhat different service for you, and that that, then, would be the subject of a change order.  Is that, roughly speaking, a correct understanding of what a change in scope would be? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Excuse me, just a moment.  

     The change in scope is actually quite -- can be quite a broad definition.  When you enter into an agreement of this nature, and when you enter into a project of this nature, there are lots of things that you estimate.  There's lots of things that you assume at the outset.  And various things can change during the course of the project.  

     Scope changes, in its broadest sense, represents things that were not foreseen in the original services agreement, that caused a material change to time, resources, whatever, that was originally contemplated.  

     So I don't disagree with your characterization.  I'm just concerned that it’s, perhaps, a little narrower than what it should maybe be.  

     MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that, Mr. Chiotti.  What I was trying to get at though, is, is there a distinction between a change order for some unanticipated wrinkle, for example, in the project, and, simply, delays?  Does a delay, because of a cluster of glitches, or whatever they happen to be, require a change order? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  It would depend on what the causes of the delay were.  

     If the causes of the delay were because we had identified scope issues, and we tried to absorb those scope issues within the original time-frame of the project, and we reached the point where an accumulation of those smaller scope issues could no longer be absorbed within the original time-frame of the project, then a delay may be required.  And that delay would ultimately have been driven by scope changes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And that would be distinguished, for example, from an instance -- let's say, a delay was driven by difficulties - and, at this point, this is a hypothetical.  If the delay were prompted by difficulties in the up-take of the project by Enbridge employees - as opposed to glitches in the software, or new software, or something like that - would those delays be the subject of a change order? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  No, I would say that those would not be.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, looking just at 2004-2005 -- 2004, again, at page 3 of 5 of this year's filing.  The difference between 18.5 and 21.8 -- those are all subject to change orders.  Is that correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, in 2005, looking at the same exhibit, you have a budget amount.  And is it -- can it be anticipated, for example, in the next rate case, that there would be an actual number for 2005 with which to compare the budget amount? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.     

     MR. WARREN:  And would that be the case going to the next year, 2006, the budget amount, can the Board anticipate in the rate case following that that there would be an actual amount with which you could compare that?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, although I would characterize 2006 and beyond as somewhat different, in that we will have been completed the development and implementation components of the services agreement.  It is during those stages of the initiative where the greatest chance of variation of scope, and so on, is likely to occur.


Once we get out into particularly ‑‑ well, particularly I would say the 2007 year, and forward, we're basically at the operations stage of the initiative, and I would anticipate that there would not be the same potential for change orders during that period going forward.


 MR. WARREN:  Now, as a follow-up to that, I see on this exhibit page that beginning in 2007 you have, for the first time, something which I take it means forecast; is that right?  Is that what "FRCST" stands for?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.  And that is consistent with the way we present financial information beyond the test year that we're filing.


MR. WARREN:  And the reason it is forecast and not budget is -- the reason you've just given me is that you have a higher degree of confidence that what you forecast will actually be what you actually spend in those years; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Certainly with -- well, the answer perhaps varies somewhat with the different components on this table.  With respect to the Accenture fees, those are the amounts that are in the contractual agreement with Accenture and, therefore, subject to scope changes.  That is the forecasted amount we anticipate, net of inflation.


The other amounts relate to, you know, a variety of things, including benefits, and certainly those benefits are forecast at this point.


MR. PLECKAITIS:  If I could just clarify, the terminology in our company for financial reporting is simply that there's formal processes where budgets are formally approved through an annualized process, and the terminology "forecast" is used.  In this particular case, there's reference to the future dates because, inevitably, you have projects that go beyond the formal budget period, and, as a result, the terminology we use is "forecast" or "estimates".


MR. WARREN:  Thanks for that, Mr. Pleckaitis.  I suppose the difference -- or am I correct in understanding that the difference is that all of the amounts which we see on this page are in ‑‑ are the subject of the agreement with Accenture, which projects, as a global amount of $123 million which is spread, by the means of this fee schedule we're going to get, over the course of that period of time.  So you know now what it is you're going to pay in each of those years; correct?  It's not subject ‑‑ it's not like the ordinary budget process at Enbridge, is it?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  I think Mr. Chiotti has already explained that subject to any scope changes, that the Accenture line on that particular table, the fees are established by a contract.


MR. WARREN:  Okay, thanks.  Were you going to add something, Mr. Chiotti?


MR. CHIOTTI:  No.


MR. WARREN:  Now, looking back at 2004, I want to go from these numbers, the budget and actual, to the relief that you request from the Board.


And in this context, I would like you to turn up, please - again, going back to the exhibit booklet that I filed yesterday, which is last year's filing - on page 15 of the exhibit booklet.


You will see in the final numbered paragraph 35 that there is the request for approval, and what the company was asking for was, for 2004, to close to rate base 17.9 million.  Do you see that number?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, I do.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I would like to, if I can, Mr. Chiotti, try and understand the distinction, if any, among that figure, 17.9 million and the 2004 actual 21.8 million.  And in this context, finally, if we could pull up Exhibit K4.1, which you were kind enough to prepare overnight, its shows the amount that were actually close to rate base.


In looking at that, Mr. Chiotti, I see that what was close to rate base in 2004 ‑‑ actually, it is 2003/2004, so there is the stub period, is that right, for 2003 in there?


MS. McCOWAN:  No, that's not correct.  2003 is because there was $6 million in O&M -- or, sorry, in capital from 2003, which could not be closed until September 2004 when the work and asset management system went into service.


MR. WARREN:  So what does the figure on K4.1 of 18.3 represent?


MS. McCOWAN:  That's the amount that we actually put to rate base of the costs that we had taken, the capital costs we had taken in 2003/2004 related to the EnVision project.


MR. WARREN:  And how does that relate to the 18. ‑‑ sorry, the 21.8 which we find in Exhibit K6, tab 5, schedule 2, page 3, and the amount that you actually asked for approval for from the Board of 17.9?


MS. McCOWAN:  Okay.  So if you look at the ‑‑ I'm going to be referring you to Exhibit A6, tab 5, schedule 2 in responding to this, as well as to Mr. Chiotti's response to Interrogatory I5-160.  And if you look at the information ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, panel, if you could give the Board an opportunity to turn up Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 160, which is a response to an interrogatory from my client, number 160.  What page of that exhibit page did you want to refer to?


MS. McCOWAN:  It's the page where the costs are looked at, which would be page 5 that starts "cost impacts".  And in Exhibit A6-5-2, it's page 3, where the table that you were referencing is.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.


MS. McCOWAN:  So in the top section of -- sorry.


MR. WARREN:  Let me assure the panel members it doesn't get any easier from this point forward.


MS. NOWINA:  We have it.


MR. WARREN:  You're entering the third circle of Dante's hell at the moment, heading south.


MS. McCOWAN:  Madam Chair, in responding to this, the ‑‑ on K4-1, what we've got at the top is what is in the evidence of A6-5-2.  And so moving from the left, it shows the budgeted numbers from 2004, which was 18.5 million in Accenture fees, 1.4 million in business resources.  And, if you look at our 10 percent O&M and 90 percent capital split, that was 17.9 million would have been expected to be put to rate base.  That was on budgeted numbers, and that's also the number you see on page 15 of the document that Mr. Warren has, which is the 17.9 million that was expected to be put to rate base.


If we go forward to the actual information, which was filed as part of Exhibit A6-5-2, you have the actual numbers.  And, again, using the 10:90 split, you would expect 21.5 million to be put to rate base, but you can only put it to rate base, one, when it has actually been invoiced, and so you see a timing difference there, and you also see that some of the costs incurred in 2004 relate to our field vision.  Our field vision has not yet been put into service, and so no costs associated with it can be put to rate base.  


So what you see in 18.3 is the costs that have actually been invoiced and paid, as well as those costs that have been associated with the work and asset management system.


Moving forward to the stub ‑‑ moving forward to the stub ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, just before you go to the stub.  So that gets you to 18.3, is that right --

     MS. McCOWAN:  That's right.  

     MR. WARREN:  -- that calculation.  Okay.  Go ahead, please. 

     MS. McCOWAN:  Moving forward to the stub, Accenture’s fees during that period were $5.4 million.  Our business resource costs were $1.8 million.  Which takes you to a total of $7.2 million, of which 6.5 million has been capitalized -- or, would expect to be capitalized, and is

-- will be, ultimately.   Only 3 million of that was, in fact, put to rate base, for the same reasons that I referred to before, namely, that some of that, again, was related to our field-force technology project, which has not yet been put to the -- has not been put into service, and also the timing difference of invoicing.  

     What I have tried -- 

 
MR. WARREN:  Sorry.

     MS. McCOWAN:  Okay.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, if the Board, last year, approved an amount of 17.9 million to go into rate base, what's the authority for Enbridge to enter a higher amount into rate base? 

     MS. HOLDER:  I will try to put my utility hat back on for a bit.  

     For rate-making purposes, the rates would have been set on the $17.9 million of rate base.  So by booking or closing the 18.3 to rate base -- had no impact upon rates that exist today.   So there is no impact on ratepayers.  It's an accounting matter, only.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  

     Now, going forward to 2005 and, again, the starting point for the exercise is that -- is page 15 in the exhibit book, which is the relief requested last year.  And you asked to -- the Board approve an amount of 17.4 million going into rate base in 2005.  

     Now, when I look at A6, tab 5, schedule 2, which is this year's filing, I see that, for 2005, we have a budgeted amount of 17.9 million.  And if I look at Mr. Chiotti's Exhibit K4.1, we don't yet know the total amount that’s to go into rate base in 2005; is that correct? 

     MS. McCOWAN:  That's correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  But if I follow what Ms. Holder just told me, the maximum amount that you can put into rate base for rate-making purposes will be 17.4 million.  Is that correct? 

     MS. McCOWAN:  Yes.  I'm just -- I missed a bit of math on this so I'm just -- 

     MR. WARREN:  Well, then, we're all in real trouble.  

     MS. McCOWAN:  It's the 17 -- 

     MS. HOLDER:  Well, whatever is in this application to be close to rate base, if it is approved, would be close to rate base for rates for 2006.  We’ll find that number.  It's not in our evidence, here.  

     MR. WARREN: Well, I'm only looking for what you asked for approval for last year, and it was 17.4 million.  Is that the number, Ms. Holder?  Can you get me the number, subject to -- 

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  We might get it for you in just 30 seconds.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Just hold on.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes, it is the 17.4.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, we -- as Ms. McCowan suggested, we neglected to do one additional --

     MR. WARREN:  Yes.

     MR. CHIOTTI:  -- piece of arithmetic last night.  Essentially, if you take the amounts shown as budgeted in 2005, and you take -- with the exclusion of the IT O&M, which is strictly O&M, and you took 90 percent of that, which is what we capitalize, you would come to the 17.4.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, for 2004 year and for 2005, there is a distinction in your analysis between budget and actual.  Correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.      

     MR. WARREN:  And there are -- so there is that distinction, in addition to which, Ms. McCowan said that you don't book to rate base anything which is not used and useful, hasn't come into use yet; is that fair?  Which is why you wouldn't book some of the field-force transformation; is that correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Used or useful, yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, what happens to the excess?  Let's say, for 2004, between budget and actual, the Board approves an amount to go to rate base in 2004 of 17.9.  There's actually more spent in Accenture fees:  there's an amount of 21.8 spent.  What happens to that? Do you seek approval subsequently for that in the rate base?  Or does that just disappear off into the ether?

     MS. HOLDER:  My recollection is that, when you come forward -- or, when Enbridge Gas Distribution comes forward for their next rate case, asking for approval of rate base and the capital budget for that year, it would be included in the rate base at the starting rate base.  

     So, if we were to look at -- we're now asking for rates to be approved for 2006.  We will have a forecasted rate base in that application for the end of 2005.  That is used to establish rates for 2006.  

     If that number is higher, then at the end of -- for the application of 2007, the starting rate base will be adjusted, either up or down, depending on what the actual capital spending is. 

     MR. WARREN:  So I take it the answer to my question is, yes.  You seek approval for it in a subsequent year. 

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  

     Now getting back to the other distinction, Ms. McCowan, some items have not been booked to rate base because they're not, to use my old-fashioned term, “used and useful.”  Can you just refresh my memory, which is -- at my age, is about a 30-second span.  The amount for 2004 which was not booked to rate base, because you determined it was not used and useful, was how much? 

     MS. McCOWAN:  3.2 million.  

     MR. WARREN:  And is all of that related to field-force transformation work? 

     MS. McCOWAN:  No.  As I said before, some of it is the field-force transformation work, but some other of it is just delays in invoicing.  And so we would have shown, here, that the company accrued the money in 2004, but unless you eventually paid the invoice, you can't book it to rate base.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, is there a summary-form document you can provide which will indicate those assets which are not yet used and useful, and which have not yet been booked to rate base?  Can that be provided? 

     MS. McCOWAN:  That could be provided, certainly. 

     MR. WARREN:  Can I get an undertaking to do that? 

MS. McCOWAN:  Sorry, can I get just -- clarification as to exactly what you want? 

     MR. WARREN:  For the year 2004, if you could provide us with a description of the assets which is not booked to rate base because they were not yet used and useful -- or not deemed by you to be used and useful.  

     MS. McCOWAN:  Just so that I get you what you need, is it beyond the general statement that they're all related to the field-vision project? 

     MR. WARREN:  Yes.  If you can tell me exactly what it is.   Is there a further breakdown of what it is, within the field-vision -- 

     MS. McCOWAN:  No.  At the moment, we’re -- its Accenture fees and our business resources that we're booking to the field-vision project. 

     MR. WARREN:  And it’s all related to field-force transformation; is that right? 

     MS. McCOWAN:  That's correct. 

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And which part of field-force transformation:  is it the implementation of the operations portion of it? 

     MS. McCOWAN:  Now that we're starting to build the production environment, it’s both. 

     MR. WARREN:  Okay, for 2004, though. 

     MS. McCOWAN:  For 2004, it would all have been the development. 

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I don't need the undertaking, then.  I think it is clear on the record. 

     Now, for 2005, may I understand that there are -- that there may be Accenture fees related to matters which will not become used and useful in 2005, as well? 


MS. McCOWAN:  I need to hear the question again.  Lloyd was answering ‑‑ why don't you answer?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Let's hear the question again.


MR. WARREN:  That's just not fair for me to have to ask the question again.


Can we anticipate that for 2005, that there will be Accenture fees or matters which will not become used and useful in 2005 and, therefore, will not be booked to rate base in that year?


MR. CHIOTTI:  No.  We anticipate that field force transformation component of EnVision will, in fact, be used or useful within the 2005 time frame.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.


MR. CHIOTTI:  The new fiscal calendar 2005 time frame.  No, in fact ‑‑ yes.  Irrelevant.


MR. WARREN:  So that the only difference in 2005 between what the Board approved, which is the $17.4 million, and what you would seek to book to rate base would be as a result of change orders; is that fair?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Excuse me just a moment.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CHIOTTI:  The things that could vary that 17.4 million are, as you say, change orders, but also, once again, we could have the timing issue with invoicing and that might create a variance, as well.


MR. WARREN:  All right.  Thank you for all of that.  It's very helpful, panel.


Now, Mr. Chiotti, just finally on an historic matter, you and I, at the beginning of my cross‑examination yesterday, talked about some of the early days of DPWAMS, and then WAMS as it changed its iteration.


If I could just take you back to that historical period, and I would like to try and get as precise a time line as I can on the relationship between EGD and Accenture with respect to this matter.  I'm going to begin, Mr. Chiotti - and I'm sure that you and Ms. Holder will correct me where I'm wrong - DPWAMS, which was the origin internal solution, the twenty-point-some-million-dollar internal solution, did not involve Accenture at all; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  It did not involve Accenture explicitly, but, as I recollect, that project anticipated that we would engage a firm like Accenture to help with the development and implementation of that project.


MR. WARREN:  Can you, as best you can, panel, give me a time line when DPWAMS migrated into WAMS, which was the concept of the external application service provider?  When, roughly, was that?


MR. CHIOTTI:  You're taxing my memory, but let me attempt to do this.  First of all, we brought DPWAMS forward in the 2002 rate case, test year rate case.  It did not go forward following that rate case.  Shortly after that, we began to consider other alternatives of how we might deal with the fact that we needed to replace all of these Legacy systems that were aging.


I believe it was in the spring, late spring, perhaps, of 2003 that we began to look for these alternatives, and that's when we started to think through the application services provider model.


We, at that time, would have done some work to pursue this concept, eventually leading up to the RFP process which took place later that summer and fall.


MR. WARREN:  May I just suggest a correction to that time line to this extent, Mr. Chiotti?  The Board's decision with reasons in the RP‑2002‑0133 case dealing with 2003 rates recites a time line that indicates that the RFP was in September of 2002, which would suggest that it was the spring of 2002 when you began this movement away from internal solution.  Is that ‑‑


MR. CHIOTTI:  I'm sorry, you're right.  I was off by a year.


MR. WARREN:  Now, in this period - I will call it the migration from the concept of an internal solution to one with an external application service provider - did you seek the advice of Accenture as part of that migration process?  Were they retained to advise you?


MS. HOLDER:  No, we did not, actually.  I was having discussions with another party at the time, flushing out this type of concept.  It wasn't until we went for the RFP that Accenture responded to -- Accenture got involved.


MR. WARREN:  Now, the RFP was issued in September of 2002, and my recollection of the evidence from last year is that it was tender for the WAMS portion of -- or what became the WAMS portion of the Accenture arrangement; is that correct?


MS. HOLDER:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  And the total value of that was, approximately, what?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Excuse us just a moment.


[Witness panel confers]


MS. HOLDER:  Sorry, we're refreshing one another's memories here.  Can you repeat your last question?


MR. WARREN:  This is really unfair.  I'm trying to understand what it is that went to tender in September of 2002.


Am I correct in my understanding that what went to tender was the WAMS portion of what ultimately became the EnVision project?


MR. CHIOTTI:  The reason why Ms. Holder and I are struggling a little bit to make sure that we answer this question as accurately as possible is that the tender was more associated with the whole area of work and asset management and what was possible in that field.


We were coming from an original concept of simply replacing our existing Legacy systems with this thing we called DPWAMS and moving into a broader appreciation that there was a lot going on in the work and asset management area within utilities at that time.  And we, I think, were interested and the RFP was put together broadly enough to, in fact, request proposals for, you know, what could we be doing in the work and asset management area to move to new technology to generate benefits down the road.


MR. WARREN:  Did the tender contemplate the field force transformation?


MS. HOLDER:  Maybe I will try a different way of approaching this.  It didn't explicitly leave it out.  It was a broad, Tell us what is available out there, what you can do for us.


Accenture's response included field force transformation; other parties' responses did not.


MR. WARREN:  Would I be correct in understanding what you're telling me, Ms. Holder, is that this tender really invited responses across the whole array of work and asset management services, which was potentially a large and complex array of services; is that fair?


MS. HOLDER:  It was broad enough it could be, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And am I correct in my recollection that the tender period, it was open for 11 days?  Can you take that, subject to check?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, we will check that.

MR. WARREN:  My recollection -- you will check it, but my recollection, it was 11 days.  And it strikes me, at an intuitive level, that 11 days is a very short period of time for someone, anybody, to respond to a request to tender on a broad, complex area of work and asset management.  Is that unfair on my part? 

     MS. HOLDER:  It would appear to be a short period of time.  As I said, we had been already talking to one party for quite awhile - I would say, actually, periods of months - before we sent the RFP out.  

     We did meet with Accenture prior to sending the RFP out, as well.  So the first time they had heard of the concept was just prior -- and I'm -- hopefully somebody can let me know exactly how long it was.  It wasn't very long prior to the RFP that we talked to Accenture.  

     So the parties that responded had been in contact with us, were aware of our situation, so 11 days was not unrealistic for them to respond 

     MR. WARREN:  How many parties had you been in contact with?      

     MS. HOLDER:  Three -- at least three.  I'm trying to think if there was a fourth.  There was more discussions with two of them than the others.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now the Accenture proposal that was ultimately accepted included a field-force transformation component; is that correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, the EnVision project, as it sits before the Board today, which has the five components to it, was that project ever put to tender? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Well, certainly, in the sense that, as Ms. Holder has characterized, the RFP was a broad RFP.  This was Accenture's response to that RFP.  It was compared to the other responses to that RFP.  So, yes, it was put to tender.  

     MR. WARREN:  Well, Accenture was the only one who came back with the field-force transformation, something which, I take it, you folks hadn't thought of in advance.  I don't mean that as a criticism, but you were -- recollecting our discussions last year, Ms. Holder, you were pleasantly surprised at the concept of field-force transformation, and the value that might deliver to you. 

     MS. HOLDER:  From the perspective that was presented by Accenture, that's true.  The utility was, and had been, already, looking at new technologies for the field, which is what field-force transformation is.  I think Accenture went beyond what we were looking at at that point in time, but it wasn't beyond our -- it was something we had already been considering and working on.  

     MR. WARREN:  Did Enbridge take the concept of

field-force transformation and put that idea out to tender to see if other people could deliver field-force transformation, but to do it more cheaply than Accenture could do it? 

     MS. HOLDER:  No.  And I think the reasons were outlined in previous testimonies, why we chose Accenture.  When you send out a RFP and you get a response back, and you choose to -- the successful bidder -- in this case, we chose Accenture, for all of the reasons we have outlined in evidence, in this case and others -- we did not feel it was appropriate to then cherry-pick their response, and resend another RFP out.  Which is what I think you would be suggesting we would have done, is take -- is to take their bid and go, Oh, we hadn't really thought of this concept; why don't we just take this wonderful concept that they have, which adds a huge amount of value to the organization, and re-tender it?  In our minds, that was not an appropriate action to take.  

     MR. WARREN:  So, if I understand the exchange, then, they came up with the field-force transformation idea, which nobody else came up with.  They offered it at -- I take it they offered it at a certain fee; is that fair?  Was that in the tender response?  

     MS. HOLDER:  The response had a cost -- an expected cost to that component, I believe.  But we negotiated the actual fee, in the end.  

     MR. WARREN:  But I take it that you felt constrained that you could not put the entire EnVision project, including field-force transformation, out to tender, to see if somebody in the field could do it more cheaply.  You didn't feel that was fair?  Have I got it correctly? 

     MS. HOLDER:  We didn't feel it was appropriate is, probably, a better response.  I think, also, the other responses by the other bidders were unique in their own right, as well.  And we chose the product that we felt would best suit our needs and deliver the most value.  And so it wasn't just the field-force transformation component of the Accenture bid that won them the contract, at the end of the day.  It was various aspects of that bid.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  And just to add to Ms. Holder's comments.   Once again, as we've stated a number of times, EnVision is not simply an IT project.  It is a business-transformation project.   That necessarily makes it, you know, broader, more complex and so on.  

     MR. WARREN:  Does Enbridge Gas Distribution, the applicant here, have any other business relationships with Accenture? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes, we do.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, I want to be careful on the time-line, Mr. Pleckaitis.  In 2002 -- let me step back further.  

     What happened was, they responded to the 11-day RFP period.  And you decided that what they were offering was the most attractive.  And you then entered into a period of negotiations which lasted until the spring of 2003; is that right, Ms. Holder? 

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  In the period between -- in the period from, let's say, mid-2002 to spring of 2003, Mr. Pleckaitis, did Enbridge Gas Distribution have business relationships at that point with Enbridge Gas Distribution [sic]? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  I believe so, subject to check.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.

     MS. HOLDER:  I confirm they did, yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Can you describe what the nature of those were?  I'm not looking for numbers, Ms. Holder, but can you tell me what the relationships were with Accenture in that period?  

     MS. HOLDER:  I believe it was in 2002 -- and I don't remember the timing.  It was prior to the RFP being sent out and our discussions with Accenture that we sold Customer-Works to Accenture.   And I don't remember if that was in its entirety a part of -- but I do remember the announcement coming out, which surprised me because I was not aware of those discussions going on.  However, I was about to have these discussions with Accenture.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, in addition, Ms. Holder or Mr. Pleckaitis, in the period we're talking about - 2002, spring 2003 - did the parent company, Enbridge Inc., have business relations with Accenture? 

     MS. HOLDER:  I would -- I don't know outside of the Customer-Works.  The Customer-Works would have been -- had an impact -- created a relationship with Enbridge Gas Distribution, by the contract that Enbridge Gas Distribution has with Accenture Business Services.  Customer-Works was an Enbridge Inc. organization, so that would have created a relationship, as well.  I don't know if there was anything further than that with Enbridge Inc.  

     MR. WARREN:  Was the decision to have Accenture -- enter into a contract with Accenture, to provide the EnVision project, related in any way to the relationship -- the Customer-Works limited partnership relationship? 

     MS. HOLDER:  No.  

     MR. WARREN:  Were there any benefits, in particular, for either contract as a result of the other contract?  In other words, you get a better deal on one because of the relationship in the other. 

     MS. HOLDER:  Not that I am aware of, but I’d like to think that we got the best deal from Accenture.  But there was definitely no indication that there was any tie between the two contracts.  

     MR. WARREN:  Panel, if I could then turn to more current matters.  And, in the context of this year's filing, at Exhibit A6, tab 5, schedule 2, you indicate, beginning at page 1, that there was a delay in the implementation of the WAMS portion of the EnVision from July of 2004 ‘til late October of 2004; is that correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  In addition to which, Mr. Chiotti, as I understand your pre-filed evidence, following that -- and I'm looking at page 2 of it.  This is my gloss, so correct me if I'm wrong:  you indicate that the start-up was followed by a number of what you describe in paragraph 5 as “technical and system problems”, which resulted in the need to revert to manual procedures for certain processes.  Is that correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, that's correct.   

    
MR. WARREN:  Then you say in your evidence that as of February 25, the system was largely - and I use your term - stabilized; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, just as a segue from that, if you could turn up the exhibit that Ms. McCowan referred to earlier, which is my client's Interrogatory No. 160, which is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 160?  


Members of the panel and the hearing panel, if I could advise you that, unhappily for everyone, there were some attachments to that.  The attachments are -- I would be understating it to say that they're voluminous, but you need to turn those up, as well, for which I apologize.  Do you have those attachments, panel members? 


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, we do.


MR. WARREN:  Now, regrettably, and I don't mean this critically at all, these are not paginated, but about a quarter of the way through the attachments -- it's actually Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 160, appendix A, page 152 of 475.  The Panel will find a document which looks like this and is called "Operations Transformation 2005 Plan".


This is what it ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  We have it.


MR. WARREN:  Do you have it, Mr. Chiotti and members of the panel?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, I do.


MR. WARREN:  This is dated February 1, 2005, and it is described as an EMT presentation.  What is EMT?


MR. CHIOTTI:  EMT is the acronym for our executive management team.


MR. WARREN:  And there is an explanation in the original, in the body of the text of Exhibit I, which you don't need to turn up, but ‑‑ or perhaps you could.  Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 160 page 6.  


It says in numbered item 4:

"As indicated above, during January 2005 an overall assessment of the status of the EnVision implementation was conducted and a high level plan for 2005 was developed.  This plan was presented to Enbridge Gas Distribution's executive management team on February 1, 2005.  The plan entitled 'Operations Transformation 2005 Plan' is attached."


Now, this document, the operations transformation 2005 plan, was prepared by, whom?


MR. CHIOTTI:  It was prepared by a variety of people, who were directly involved in the EnVision project at the time, under my direction.


MR. WARREN:  And who requested the preparation of this document?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Um ...


MR. PLECKAITIS:  I did.


MR. WARREN:  And may I ask, Mr. Pleckaitis, why you asked for the preparation of this document?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  As Mr. Chiotti explained, we were having difficulties with the start‑up of EnVision.  Obviously, it was a serious issue to us and the management team.  The question that I wanted to answer for members of the executive was:  What were we doing about it, what was our implementation plan going forward to correct the problems, and what would the impacts be, based on the information we had as of the time that we put the plan together?


MR. WARREN:  Now, there is reference in the evidence, members of the panel ‑‑ I'm not sure it's material that we get it exactly precisely correctly, but there is various references in the evidence to a new governance structure for this EnVision project.  And, indeed, looking through about three or four pages here, we see a reference to development of a new governance model.  


Mr. Pleckaitis, can you tell me ‑‑ I take it, Ms. Holder and Mr. Pleckaitis, that the break between your respective responsibilities is roughly January 1 of 2005, when Ms. Holder went off to the ‑‑


MR. PLECKAITIS:  It was in December, actually, 2004.


MR. WARREN:  -- went off to the Elysium fields and you got stuck with this job; is that a fair -- it was December of 2004?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  December 2004.


MR. WARREN:  What was the governance structure for the EnVision project prior to that?


MR. CHIOTTI:  There was clearly a governance structure put in place throughout the development of the work and asset management system.  I can't rhyme off every member of the steering committee that existed at that time.


The executive sponsors of the effort at that time were Ms. Holder, VP of operations, and Mr. Glenn Beaumont, who was the VP of engineering.  The EnVision project, although a good proportion of it is associated with the operations group, there is significant involvement from engineering, as well, and that's why both of those vice presidents were executive sponsors.


It included pretty much all of the senior people in the operations group at that time and the relevant portions of the engineering group.  So all of Ms. Holder's direct reports, myself included, the general managers of our operating regions, were there; in Mr. Beaumont's organization, his staff, direct reports involved with the planning functions, in particular, which are closely associated with the work performance in operations.


We had representation from our financial area in the place of our vice president of finance at that time.  We had representation from our IT group.  As I recall, the director of IT was a member of that steering committee.  There may have been one or two other members that escape me at the moment, but I think that was the core of the steering committee.


MR. WARREN:  And I appreciate the detailed answer, Mr. Chiotti, but I was ‑‑ I should have prefaced my question by asking for something at a high level of generality.  Were there, for example, weekly reports from the steering committee of EnVision to the Enbridge senior management team?


MR. CHIOTTI:  I can't recall the exact number of times that we would have reported to the executive management team.  There would have been certainly some presentations over the course of the two‑plus years that we were developing the system.


The steering committee, however, met on a monthly basis, and they were regular status reports to that steering committee.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Pleckaitis, turning ‑‑ I'm sorry, Ms. Holder.


MS. HOLDER:  Just to add to that, we do have or -- they were having, at least when I was vice president of operations, weekly executive management meetings.  I provided a verbal update at every one of those meetings.  On a monthly basis, we had an extended meeting and I provided a more detailed update at those meetings to the executive.


MR. WARREN:  Now, Mr. Pleckaitis, turning to you, you directed that this operations transformation 2005 plan be directed.  And I understood, from your earlier answer, that your doing so reflected a concern about the state of the EnVision project and its impact on Enbridge; is that fair?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Can I ask you to turn up, in this context, Mr. Pleckaitis, about three pages into this operations transformation plan?  There is a list of impacts there.


MR. PLECKAITIS:  What's the heading, if you could?

     MR. WARREN:  It says:  

"Current state of the business:  Transition to new systems and processes more challenging then expected.  Impacts include ..." 


Do you have that page?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I wonder if we could just briefly go through these seriatim to try and understand the nature and extent of the impact of EnVision on the business.  And the first one is “More effort and time to process work.”  What is meant by that? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  As Mr. Chiotti indicated, given that we were having system instability - the system would go down at times, for various durations - it required us to move to manual processes.  When you move to manual processes, things become very intensive.  People become frustrated by it.  But, basically, a lot more work-around is required and little automation.  

     MR. WARREN:  The second item is “Expected system IT and process functionality not yet achieved.”  What does that mean? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  It's tied to the first comment.  The fact is that the system is not working as expected, and so therefore the bugs of that need to be worked out.  

     MR. WARREN:  The third item is “Unanticipated backlog diverting resources and focus.”  

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  When you go to manual systems, as a result, work does not flow through the work management centre as it was expected.  So what you end up having is piles of work orders, basically, being backlogged in the system -- or people’s desks, clerks, desks, dispatchers’ desks, whatever -- either way, need to get input into the system when the system is back up, for output into the field. 

     MR. WARREN:  Employee frustration and stress.     

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  If you've ever sat in front of a computer when the computer doesn't work, I think you’ll understand what I mean.  We had a lot of -- 

     MR. WARREN:  When I sit in front of a computer, Mr. Pleckaitis, it never works.  And that's because I'm sitting in front of the computer.  I'm sorry.  

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  That's fine.  As Mr. Chiotti indicated, the EnVision system touches many employees through our operations group.  It also touches our contractors, people in the field.  The fact that they were not having reliable information, they couldn't count on an automated system to provide that information, was extremely frustrating to all people involved.  

     MR. WARREN:  I know very little about this, Mr. Pleckaitis, but I am advised that if employees experience frustration in dealing with this kind of system, then they stop using it.  They don't buy into the use of the system, and that creates ripple effects throughout the system; is that fair? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  In some cases, yes.      

     MR. WARREN: “Customer service standards not consistently achieved.”  What's that? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Basically, we were missing our appointment times, as Mr. Chiotti indicated.  We have standards that we establish, committing customers to when we would arrive at their home, for example, within four-hour windows.  We attempted to achieve that a certain percentage of the time but, given the systems were down and information was not being provided, we were missing those appointment windows much more frequently than our standards require.  

     MR. WARREN:  Finally it says “Alliance participants experiencing similar impacts.”  What’s meant by that? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Our Alliance partners, basically, our contractors, that do some of the work that some of our own forces do -- basically, it's a way of spreading the work around.  They experienced, because they were -- in essence, we try to make them seamless, whether it’s an Enbridge employee that goes to a customer's home or whether if is one of our contractors.  The idea is that they perform the work in the same way.  They're connected also to the EnVision system, so the frustrations that our own employees were experiencing were replicated in the contractor forces, as well.  

     MR. WARREN:  If you turn over the next page, you see, under the heading “Risks to be Mitigated” -- can you give me, Mr. Pleckaitis, an order of magnitude?  I appreciate that's the wrong term in the context, but a level of seriousness attached to each of these.  How serious a problem are we looking at in each of these areas, Mr. Pleckaitis? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Well, when you say a level of seriousness, I'm not sure what you're asking me to do.  If you're asking me to quantify it from a 1 to 10, I couldn't do that.  

     MR. WARREN:  I take it it was a serious enough problem that it warranted senior management's explicit attention. 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Absolutely.   

     MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now two of these items -- one is “Fiscal 2005 Budget Risk, Overstatement of Benefits.”  Can you describe what that was?  

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Well, we -- as we've indicated in our evidence, we expected to have a certain level of benefits achieved from EnVision.  Given that the system did not perform on start-up as we expected, naturally, the benefits were going to be less.  So the -- one of the purposes of this report was to advise the executive of our best forecast at this time as to how those benefits had deteriorated, or slipped further out, as a result of the problems we were experiencing.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, as a result of the analysis -- sorry.  A question prior to that.  This is a point-form presentation.  May I assume it was a PowerPoint presentation that went to the executive management team; is that fair? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  That's right.  

     MR. WARREN:  And I presume, Mr. Chiotti, since you oversaw the preparation of this, that lying behind each of these bullet items there would have been, if you wish, a report from someone that gave the details and the magnitude of each of these problems; is that correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  I wouldn't necessarily say there was a specific report behind each and every one of these items.  We were all very actively engaged in the process of implementing a massive new system, and supporting that system, and dealing with the inevitable unknowns that are consistent with doing that.  We were all very close to what was going on, on a day-to-day, month-to-month basis,

day-to-day, week-to-week basis, hour-to-hour basis.  

     This work was done over a period of some weeks.  We gathered in meeting rooms with white boards and had numerous discussions, and so on, that ultimately led to this plan and the presentation that was made to the EMT.  

     MR. WARREN:  If I can ask you, finally, to -- in the context of this particular document, to turn up the -- it's page 160 of 475.  It’s called “Milestones.”  Do you see that page? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  And in the -- there were various dates, for example, there is a plan to address the backlog.  There's a plan to address what's called “The Gap.”  What is “The Gap”? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  “The Gap” is the financial gap, the benefits that we had in the budget versus what we were forecasting to actually achieve in 2005, as a result of the information we had at that time.  

     MR. WARREN:  And I see here the phrase “system fully-functional”, and the time-line for that is September 1 to December 1 -- 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  -- what does it mean, Mr. Pleckaitis or Mr. Chiotti? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  What we want -- what we were targeting was, how long would it take to get the problems that we were experiencing on go live?  How would you have done this, ironed it out?  And our forecast, at the time we put this together, was the last quarter of 2005.  

     MR. WARREN:  So may I understand that your hope was that, by the last quarter of 2005, the WAMS portion -- and this is what we're talking about, we're talking about the WAMS portion of the EnVision project; is that right? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  That's correct. 

     MR. WARREN:  You hoped by the last quarter of 2005 it would be fully functional? 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  That's correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, just briefly, as a follow-up to this, if we go further on in the attachments to this, a few pages further on - members of the panel, it’s page 164 of 475 - we have a document called “Operations-Transformation Steering Committee Governance Report.”  And this is for a relatively short period:  February 30th to March 2nd.   It’s only a matter of days, three days.  

     And then, going on a little further, we have, at page 167, “Operations-Transformation Steering Committee Governance Report” for a period of six days, March 3 to March 9.  

     Mr. Pleckaitis, did you require, as a result of the operations-transformation plan, that there would be frequent reports from the steering committee to senior management about the status of --

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  What I established was a governance

-- a different governance structure, or modified governance structure.  At the highest level, aside from the executive management team, which is basically the VP and presidential level, where department managers report up the progress -- but at my department level, was the creation of the Operational-Transformation Steering Committee, which was chaired by myself and vice-chaired by the Vice-President of Engineering.  

     At the time that we were experiencing these problems, the frequency of those meetings was determined to be weekly.  And to get regular status updates on how we were doing with respect to EnVision, but also how we were doing on other projects, because EnVision is just one element of a multi‑element transformation project that Enbridge is trying to undertake to improve the efficiency of its operations, but EnVision is a key element because it underpins our ability to do a lot of the other things we're trying to accomplish.


And so it was critical, at the most senior levels, that people understood what was going on, could exchange views on issues to -- we could ensure that people were speaking their minds, in terms of problems, and if we were not allocating resources appropriately, it was key that those people express their views so we could allocate those resources or address issues that needed to be addressed.


MR. WARREN:  Let's just take a look at one of them I've picked at random.  There's no significance.  The beginning of page 167 of 475 --


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Sorry, Mr. Warren.  We don't have these pages numbered.


MR. WARREN:  Actually you do, in your exhibit in the upper right-hand corner --


MR. PLECKAITIS:  The copy I have --


MR. CHIOTTI:  The copy we have doesn't happen to have those numbers.


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Can I have that one?  Is it numbered?  The page is ...


MR. WARREN:  167 of 475.


MR. PLECKAITIS:  I have it.


MR. WARREN:  This is a document called "Operations Transformation Steering Committee Governance Report".  Just very briefly, I don't want to drill through all of this stuff, but may I understand that you've got external performance indicators, what you describe as public image indicators, and on the next page you've got some internal performance indicators?


These are, may I understand, Mr. Pleckaitis, the standards that you set up to measure of the progress in overcoming the problems with EnVision?  Is that a fair summary of what these are?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Some of these standards were established pre EnVision.  They were our target benchmarks, which we establish on an annual basis, in some cases, to measure performance in various areas, and some of them would have been established just specifically for the EnVision project.  So it is a mix.


MR. WARREN:  But they were indicators you were using to measure EnVision in this instance; is that fair?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  That's correct, because EnVision had an impact on some of these.  Not in all cases was EnVision the exclusive impact on these factors. 


MR. WARREN:  Looking at page 168, you have got an indicator of SDA scorecard performance.  What is that?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  The SDA stands for strategic distribution alliance, which are those contractors that we use to basically do our outside work.


MR. WARREN:  And you've got a performance target of 100 percent and the last period's performance was 35 to 44 percent, which I take it would be unacceptable to you?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  And to what extent was that poor performance a function of EnVision problems?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  I would say that EnVision had a significant factor to it, but I wouldn't say it was exclusive.  I mean, the strategic distribution alliance is still a relatively new arrangement that we have, contractual arrangement, with a handful of major contractors.  We are working through our working relationship.  


But there's no doubt that EnVision had a ‑‑ would have had a significant ‑‑ though what percentage, I couldn't say.

     [Witness panel confers]


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Sorry, Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  May I assume ‑ and correct me if I'm wrong, Mr. Pleckaitis ‑ that you're still getting these weekly reports?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Because the performance of EnVision has improved, we no longer meet weekly.  We tend to meet every two or three weeks now as a team.  And depending on issues, that will change.


MR. WARREN:  And you're still targeting full functionality by the last quarter of 2005?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes, we are.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Just as a concluding point on this, Mr. Pleckaitis, what struck me in the evidence ‑ and I would like your comment on this ‑ is that the impression I had in reading your pre-filed evidence, when you used the term ‑‑ not you personally, but Enbridge used the term that the system had been stabilized as of February 1 or the beginning of February 2005, when I look at the material and the attachments to the CCC's Interrogatory 160, it would appear to me that the system is far from stabilized; indeed, it won't be functional until the last quarter of 2005; is that fair?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes.  The terminology "stabilized" refers to the actual system being up and operating.  As Mr. Chiotti indicated, there were other issues that just needed to continue to be addressed, in terms of the processing of information, for example, through the system; that we needed to continue to make changes to the system to get its operational level up to the point that we expected WAMS to operate.


But the stability of the system, in terms of it being up and operating, was achieved within the time parameters.  But there was a lot of work, everything from training to system changes, enhancements, et cetera, that have been required from the time we got system stability to when we will reach what we refer to as steady state, which is that last quarter of 2005 time frame.


MR. WARREN:  Just finally in this context, we looked at a time line yesterday which anticipated the ‑‑ actually, we could turn it up to make sure I don't make any egregious mistakes.  


If you turn up the exhibit booklet that I filed yesterday and we look at page 7 of that exhibit booklet, we see that the time line for the EnVision -- for the work and asset management implementation, that was to have been July 2004.  May I assume, Mr. Pleckaitis and Mr. Chiotti, that, in fairness, that time line ought to be extended to -- really to the end of 2005?


MR. CHIOTTI:  No, I wouldn't say that.  That time line was to take that implementation to go-live.  Go-live was October the 25th, and, therefore, you know, if we were to extend this line to reflect actual versus what was anticipated at that time, I would extend that line to October 25th.


I think it should be noted that in the implementation of any project of this magnitude, there is some period of time of getting the system stable and of having the thousand-plus employees and all our contractors become fully familiar and able to work with the system in a steady-state kind of mode, and that's the period that, you know, we've been working through now.


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I've got two-and-a-half minutes of cross‑examination just to finish this particular area, and then if you want to break.


Finally, just on the attachments, the amount of attachments to CCC 160, at page 223 there is a document called "EnVision Records Clean-Up Backlog", dated April 2005.  


MR. DINGWALL:  223?


MR. WARREN:  223 of 475.  Mr. Chiotti, do you have it?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Can you describe for me, Mr. Chiotti, what this document is and what information it is conveying?


MR. CHIOTTI:  This document was prepared by the planning department within our engineering group.  It's a document that speaks to some issues around making sure that we had plans in place to keep our records clean as we were progressing through this period of stabilization and reaching steady state, and, for that matter, beyond.  


As I indicated yesterday, some 3 million asset records, 10 million event records were converted as part of this implementation.  We were creating records on an ongoing basis, and we expend a considerable amount of effort into the process of trying to make sure that those records are as accurate as possible and that involves an ongoing cleansing of records that has always been part of our operation.


MR. WARREN:  Well, am I wrong in understanding that what this document speaks to is the fact that the problems with EnVision created record backlogs, and that this document tries to ‑‑ or quantifies what the record backlog is that was created by problems with EnVision, and, therefore, the work that needed to be done because of the problems with EnVision?  Is that ‑‑ have I misunderstood it? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Generally speaking, I’d say your characterization is correct.  I would add that the document, clearly, is based on this particular period of time, and EnVision was a significant factor during this period of time.   I'm not as intimately familiar with the details of this report as the Planning Department folks would be.  

     We always have a certain proportion of what has been characterized as "backlog" in our operation.  That was true pre-EnVision.  We saw increases in the backlog post-implementation, and this, obviously, reflects that total situation.  

     So I can't characterize the “incremental” amount of backlog, shall I say, that is directly attributable to our challenges and our -- and the work we had to do as part of the implementation 

     MR. WARREN:  Does the backlog problem exist to this day, Mr. Chiotti? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  We're still in the process of clearing some of the backlogs.  Once again, I caution the terminology.  We always have a “running amount” of backlog, you know, if you will.  550,000 pieces of work every year.  There is thousands of pieces of work that are in process at any given time.  You could define that at various times, you know, that work would be considered to be "backlog", if you will.  I'm not sure that that’s a fully-descriptive term.  

     MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  We will take our morning break now, and reconvene in 15 minutes.  That will be 10 to 11.  

--- Recess taken at 10:35 a.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 10:55 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Did any matters come up during the break that we need to discuss?


MR. CASS:  No.


MS. NOWINA:  Fine.  You may proceed, Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  Panel, I'm going to get somewhat later -- words which no doubt send a shiver through everyone in the room, somewhat later in this cross‑examination, to the issue of benefits and calculation of benefits.  But just as a segue from the discussion we had in the last few minutes before the break, I will try and eschew the use of rhetorical phrases, but the factual description appears to be that the WAMS portion of the EnVision project went live October 25th of 2004, and there have been difficulties, thereafter, which have required senior management attention.


Now, in 2004 and likely in 2005, I take it, panel, that we will have had booked a rate base, the full amount of the WAMS implementation, $30 million; is that right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  No, that's not correct.  As I indicated, the $30 million of work and asset management solution implementation is covered in a fee schedule that runs over seven years.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.


MR. CHIOTTI:  So we would not have booked the full 30 million by the end of 2005.


MR. WARREN:  Let me focus, then, on what was anticipated, and booked to rate base in 2004 and 2005 was some -- roughly speaking, some $35 million, in rough numbers.  You had asked for seventeen-point-something, and then -- in one year, and seventeen-point-something in the next.  I can get the exact numbers, but I'm not sure anything turns on it, panel.


But my point is, given the difficulties which clearly have been encountered with this system, how is the Board to determine what, of the WAMS, was in fact used and useful to ratepayers in 2004 and 2005 for the $35 million booked to rate base?  


The system wasn't fully functional and won't be fully functional, according to Mr. Pleckaitis, until the end of 2005.  How is the Board to determine, panel, for that $35 million what's in fact useful to ratepayers in that period?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Madam Chair, we've been describing a whole series of events that have been part and parcel of implementing the system and going through the, you know, not entirely unusual post implementation stabilization and settling in.


I want to make it very clear the system went live on October 25th.  We decommissioned 33 systems very shortly thereafter.  The implementation was such that there was never any option to retreat to our Legacy systems.  If you can imagine the complexity of 33 systems with, you know, a multitude of interfaces to other systems, one of the reasons we were as challenged as we were post implementation was because this had to be a so-called

"big-bang implementation".  


We looked at that issue very hard during the development of the system.  We clearly would have preferred some method of phasing the system in, or piloting the system in some way, but that couldn't be done.  It was literally impossible to try to run the Legacy systems in parallel with this system with all of the interfaces that we had and so on.


So this system was fully implemented, in the sense of a complete system that was processing all of our work, as of October the 25th.


When we had stability problems, I've already mentioned the particular technical problem that caused the system to have outages in the first few weeks of operations.  It was a database -- obscure database problem.  Not to get too technical, but the problem resulted in a corruption of that database at that time and required us to be able to backup and recover that database, and so on and so forth.


The outages were, at times, a matter of an hour or two hours.  Some -- in the worst case, I think we had outages ‑‑ an outage that extended over a number of days as a result of the corruption of the database.  And, of course, we reverted to manual processes, and, in fact, these were manual processes that we have always had in place, because, with our Legacy systems, as well, you always had to prepare for outages and so on.


So the fact that the system had bugs, if you will, in it and require us to fix those bugs, and so on, to get to what we have ‑‑ we have termed and defined as steady state, should not imply in any way that the system was not used or useful.  


We have processed well in excess of ‑‑ well, in fact, we had a bit of a celebration around having processed the one-millionth work order in the system a few months ago now.  So we've processed perhaps in the order of 1.3, 1.4 individual work orders through the system.  The system is very much used and useful.


MR. WARREN:  But it nonetheless required manual overrides in a number of instances; is that right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Our Legacy systems require manual overrides even to the day -- you know, weeks before we decommissioned them.  Systems have glitches in them.  Hardware goes down.  Power failures affect things.  Yes, we had some outages.  We, I think, contained those and responded to them and limited their impact overall, at the end of the day.  


And as I said in my evidence, by late January, early February the system was, in fact, stabilized and we were ‑‑ any outages that we did have after that were, you know, the typical kind of outages that you might have in any system.


MR. WARREN:  Well, let's look at the other side of it for a moment, Mr. Chiotti.  If you could turn up this year's pre-filed evidence at Exhibit A6, tab 5, schedule 2, page 4?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Looking at the bottom of the page, there is an indication that in fiscal 2004 there was an increase in Accenture fees of 6.1 million; correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  No.  There was ‑‑ I will apologize, because I believe I used the term "fee" myself in the evidence, and I really I really should have used the word "cost".  There was additional costs that were incurred by Accenture, in the amount of 6.1 million, associated with the delay in the implementation from July to October.


MR. WARREN:  I apologize, Mr. Chiotti.  I just read what you wrote.


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's why I apologize for, quite frankly, using the wrong word.  I had that pointed out to me just yesterday.


MR. WARREN:  Let's, if we can, deconstruct then what this paragraph really means.  In 2004, there was an increase in Accenture costs of 6.1 million; is that correct? 


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's right.


MR. WARREN:  These were due to delays?


MR. CHIOTTI:  This was as a result of the delay, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And I again come back to the distinction between delays and change orders.  These weren't change order increases.  These were just delays?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Well, once again, I think I tried to characterize this earlier.  There are several things that contributed to the delay, some of which was the fact that we were absorbing scope changes throughout the development and even through the early testing phases of the system and not raising explicit change orders, because our hope and our effort was directed at trying to absorb those changes as we went along.


When we were looking at this delay eventually in June and July, certainly one of the contributing factors was that we had been trying to absorb the scope changes without impacting schedule or cost, and we weren't able to fully do that, and that certainly contributed to the delay.  

     MR. WARREN:  Well, let's -- again, I will try and de-construct this.  There’s a $6.1 million increase in Accenture costs.   How was that calculated, as distinct from Accenture fees? 

     MS. HOLDER:  The 6.1 million was their actual costs.  As a matter of fact, I believe the number was higher than 6.1, but once they reached 6.1, the change order indicated that all costs above 6.1 would be their costs.  So I never did see their final number.  I do know that they incurred at least $6.1 million in costs.  

     MR. WARREN:  What I'm trying to get at is something rather cruder than that, Ms. Holder. And that is that you are -- according to the testimony I heard this morning, there is a monthly fee schedule.  It’s broken down according to various categories of the various components of it.  

     And they would be, I presume, tendering an invoice every month for the amount of their fees; is that correct? 

     MS. HOLDER:  Correct. 

     MR. WARREN:  And --

     MS. HOLDER:  This --

     MR. WARREN:  Sorry. 

     MS. HOLDER:  This is a change order.  And I think Mr. Chiotti has been trying to explain what change orders apply to.  

     There is an Interrogatory - CCC No.166, which is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 166 - where it does indicate that the service agreement with Accenture is a fixed-price arrangement, subject to changes in scope, and subject to both parties fulfilling their individual responsibilities.  

     So the change order could apply to the issue of either Accenture or Enbridge Gas Distribution fulfilling their individual responsibilities.  So it does go beyond just enhancements to the system, scope changes to the system.  It does, also, apply to the need for us to fulfil our responsibilities, which would include providing adequate resourcing.  

     MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry to be slower than usual on this, panel.  But I’m caught between this distinction between “fees” and “costs”.  “Fees” were the terms used consistently in the answers, including the answer in 166.   

     Now, somebody came up with a calculation that there was 6.1 million in 2004 that was attributable to delays.  Whose calculation was that? 

     MS. HOLDER:  Accenture’s; it was their costs.  

     MR. WARREN:  Their costs.  But of the 6.1 million, according to CCC 166 and the pre-filed evidence, $1.95 million of that was attributable to Enbridge, and not Accenture; is that fair? 

     MS. HOLDER:  That's fair.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, I'm trying to get at, then, the rate-making implications of the -- for the Accenture portion, which is $4.15 million of that, that's something which Accenture eats; is that right? 

     MS. HOLDER:  That's correct. 

     MR. WARREN:  Now the $1.95 million, is that part of what is booked to rate base? 

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes.  

     MS. McCOWAN:  That --.  

     MR. WARREN:  So -- sorry? 

     MS. HOLDER:  90 percent of that.  

     MS. McCOWAN:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  I’m sorry.  90 percent of that is booked to rate base.  So ratepayers, then, are paying a portion of the cost of delays in the system; is that right? 

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes.  But those delays are a result of enhancements to the system and scope changes to the system that we hadn't previously identified as needing a change in the go-live date.  

     All through the period prior to June, as we had minor changes in scope, minor changes or small enhancements, we had ongoing discussions with Accenture saying, Okay, we're willing to do this, because we think we can do it in the time-frame in which the -- we have set for ourselves.  

     However, they were starting to warn us, they were getting to a point where they thought these changes would have impact upon the go-live date.  

     They, in fact did.  So when the delay happened, the costs to Accenture for that delay was $6.1 million.  Part of that was their own doing, which is why they ate the majority of those costs.  Part of that 6.1 million was due to enhancement, scope changes that we had done prior to the go-live date, as well as the fact that we had some resourcing issue.  

     MR. WARREN:  You had a resourcing issue?   What's the resourcing issue? 

     MS. HOLDER:  The -- I think you probably touched on it, to some extent, when you were talking to Mr. Pleckaitis with regards to employee morale.  And we had people working since December, very aggressively, long hours.  We had actually asked people to forego summer vacation, if they could.  

     When it got to finally deciding on the date on which we should be going live, we took into consideration that our employees had been working very hard and, actually, told everybody to go home for a few days -- actually take some time off.  And we started allowing employees to slot back in their vacation.  

     That was our issue.  We didn't have the resources to -- we could have done it sooner.  I don't know what the -- how much sooner, but we did feel our employees needed a break.  That was an issue that we felt was our responsibility and part of the 1.95.  

     MR. WARREN:  You used the term “our responsibility.”   And you’re using it in the most generous of all possible senses, because 90 percent of it becomes our responsibility; is that not fair, Ms. Holder? 

     MS. HOLDER:  No.  That's not fair, because I think every employee of Enbridge Gas Distribution, myself included, and even today, believed that we represent the ratepayers.  We do act in the best interests of the ratepayers.  We are trying to create a system and an environment that's going to only add value to the ratepayers.  We didn't want to do that on the backs of our employees, nor do we believe our ratepayers expected us to.  

     MR. WARREN:  I don't want to flog this horse any longer than I absolutely have to, but I just want to understand the reasoning that goes into this.  

     A decision is taken that there is $6.1 million in additional costs.  In the ordinary course, as Mr. Chiotti has said this morning, it's anticipated that there will be changes.  And there are change orders, and the change orders may increase the overall price of the EnVision project; correct? 

     MS. HOLDER:  Correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  And the possibility was that there would be a total of 6.1 million in increased costs as a result of these various changes; correct? 

     MS. HOLDER:  No.  There was only a possibility of 1.95.  That's why the number is 1.95, not 6.  

     MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  But there was $6.1 million, and a decision was taken that it was not appropriate to allocate to have ratepayers pay $4.15 million of that; correct? 

     MS. HOLDER:  No.  I think -- we had a contract.  The contract establishes the fees that we were to pay to Accenture.  It also provided us provision for change orders.  Change orders would be at our expense.  It is something that we would ask them to do.  They would tell us the cost.  We would bear those costs.  

     The 6.1 million was Accenture's costs, due to the delay.   Part of the contract is -- is, if it's their responsibility for any cost overruns or delays, it's their problem.  They eat those costs.  It's not part of our fees to Accenture.  

     If the change order was something that we want, or the delay was something that we caused, then it was appropriate for us to pay those costs, under the contract.

     MR. WARREN:  Yes.

     MS. HOLDER:  So Accenture ate their -- more than their share.  As I said earlier, the number was not 6.1 million.  It was higher than that.  They didn't need to show me anything higher than that, because 6.1 was what was used for the calculation purposes.  

     MR. WARREN:  And just so that I understand it, the rationale for why the ratepayers should pay any portion of the cost of delays occasioned by Enbridge's action is what? 

     MS. HOLDER:  Because that $1.95 million did generate changes that resulted in enhancement to the product that Accenture delivered to us, which is to the benefit of ratepayers.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, if you could turn up, as a segue from this, CCC Interrogatory 160, which is Exhibit I, tab 5, 60 -- 

     Now, taking a look at page 5 of that exhibit, the interrogatory response.  Just by way of introduction, I take it from the exchanges that I had with Mr. Chiotti and Mr. Pleckaitis before the break, that in ‑‑ as a result of the difficulties experienced in making the WAMS portion of the project fully functional, there were ‑‑ there are and have been additional labour costs within Enbridge itself, in terms of employee overtime and that sort of thing; is that fair?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I want to try and get an order of magnitude for that.  In 2004, is there a calculation of the additional costs, internal to Enbridge, associated with the implementation of the WAMS portion of the project?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  If you refer to my evidence, Exhibit A, 6, tab 5, schedule 2, page 3, in the line that is titled "Business Resources" ‑‑ sorry, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  We have it.


MR. CHIOTTI:  In the line that's titled "Business Resources", if you look at 2004 budget, we had anticipated an amount of $1.4 million.  We had an actual amount of $2.1 million.


And if you turn to the variance explanations on page 5, you will see under "Business Resources" there is .4 million for salaries for additional project staff.  However, we noted that these staff were seconded from the business.  They were not backfilled and, therefore, not an incremental cost to the company, but we have included these costs here to attribute all of our cost to EnVision.


Then there was an additional $300,000 of some other unanticipated project expenses.


MR. WARREN:  If I then go back to schedule ‑‑ sorry, Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 160, there is a forecast of incremental business costs.  Those are incremental to Enbridge; is that right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Of 3.5 million in 2005; is that right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And they're incremental because of the additional costs associated with implementing the EnVision project; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  They're incremental costs in the -- if you will, the transition to EnVision from our Legacy systems.  It is as Mr. Pleckaitis indicated in some of his responses.  We've had some backlogs develop as a result of the system stability issues early on.  It's taken longer in some instances to get our staff fully up to speed on working with the system and being able to enter orders into the system, and so on.  And, as a result, we have had to retain some temporary staff to help with the process of processing these hundreds of thousands of orders that we process on a regular basis.


So it's -- shall I say the transition from the old systems to the new system, in terms of our employees getting to a level of proficiency with the new system, has required more effort and some additional temporary resources.


 MR. WARREN:  Where will this ‑- this is a forecast.  Let's assume, for the sake of discussion, that for 2005 the forecast amount is the actual amount.  I appreciate that it may be different, but let's assume for the sake of discussion that they're one in the same.  


Where will this additional amount be accounted for?


MR. CHIOTTI:  We are accounting for this within the EnVision costs and, as such, they will be treated, as other EnVision costs, on a 90 percent capital, 10 O&M basis.


MR. WARREN:  And I take it from that answer that you then propose to recover these additional costs from ratepayers?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  The capitalized portion, the 90 percent of those incremental costs, would eventually find its way into rate base and we would expect to recover it from our customers.


MR. WARREN:  And the rationale for ratepayers having to pay any portion of additional costs associated with implementing EnVision is, what?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  There are inherent risks to any project that the company might implement of this complexity.  When we first brought forward the project or when Janet and her team first brought forward the project, we forecasted a range of benefits, benefits anywhere from, I think at that time, forecasting a low of 50 million and a high of slightly over 100 million.  


From the shareholder's perspective, from our company's perspective, we believe that that brings substantial value to customers, but no one should be under the misunderstanding that the actual cost forecast at that time or the actual benefits forecast at the time will be what will be the end result.


At the end of the day, we remain committed and believe that there will be substantial benefits from EnVision, that all customers will benefit over the life of this project, and far beyond that.


The fact that there has been higher costs in the very early stages of this project, and a very complex project, in my opinion, it would be very unfair and inappropriate and unquotable to say that, Well, you've had higher costs and those costs should somehow be borne by the shareholder.  


We bear some of those higher costs.  As I said, the overruns on O&M or overruns on costs in a particular year, or once we've already built that into the forecast, go to the shareholder's expense.  The 10 percent of total costs are a direct hit to the shareholder in that particular year.  Any higher capital costs beyond what was forecast, the carrying costs of that capital is a total shareholder expense.  


But beyond that, I believe as long as the company acts prudently and manages the business and can demonstrate to the Board and intervenors that it managed the business and the project in a professional manner, then that is the risks of these types of projects.


There is no absolute guarantee, as you move into these, that the results will be exactly as you say.  That's why they're forecasts and they're estimates.


 MR. WARREN:  Well, Mr. Pleckaitis, in fairness to you, let me put the -- for your response, let me put the counter-proposition, which is that Enbridge is a big, sophisticated company which plans this massive Enbridge ‑‑ sorry, this massive EnVision project, comes before the Board and says, This is a great thing, with all kinds of benefits.  


Why should it not be responsible for sticking to its forecasts and paying the ‑‑ the shareholder's paying the price, if it doesn't work out exactly as it thought it would?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  We would never undertake a project of this complexity under these conditions.  Why would the shareholder propose a project that it knows has uncertain uncertainties and risks, only to be put in a position that a year, two years into this type of ten-year project, because it didn't work out exactly as it had anticipated, knowing going into it that there would be those types of things, that any of those additional expenses would find itself to the shareholder?


I could tell you that ‑‑ and I believe that if you were in our shoes, you would say the same thing.  You would not pursue.  We would never bring forward that type of project to this Board.


MR. WARREN:  You would never assume any risks?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  We do assume risks.  The risks we assume are that if we are deemed to have mismanaged this project, if it's deemed after the fact that we have been imprudent in how we have pursued the project.


As I said to you, in the particular test year that we're operating, if our costs are higher, the shareholder takes the exposure on that.  If our capital costs are higher and we can't recover them in the rates that year, the shareholder takes the exposure to that.  So, yes, we do take risks.


At the end of the day, the way I see it, we have put forward a plan, that I believe the intervenors have supported through the ADR process, of benefits realization that will provide to the intervenors and to the Board, on a regular basis, a transparent view on actual costs and actual benefits of this project, and I believe that is appropriate.  


The Board will have an opportunity on an annual basis, and we will continue to have annual hearings to review that on an annual basis and determine:  Did Enbridge pursue this project in a professional, diligent manner, as is required, and as was generally expected of a company of its capability? 

     And I am prepared to stand by the fact that I believe that we will be able to demonstrate in the long-term that this project was a positive project, and was the right thing for the company to do for customers, for ratepayers.  

     MR. WARREN:  Well, we’ll get to the issue of benefits in a moment, Mr. Pleckaitis.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Excuse me, Mr. Warren.  

     Madam Chair, I would just like to add a couple of comments to what Mr. Pleckaitis said.  

     I’d like to reflect back on the fact that one of the original drivers for this initiative was, in fact, to replace aging and hard-to-maintain Legacy systems.  

     An organization of our size, clearly, is highly dependent on information technology to perform the very work that we do.  We had to replace those systems, for all intents and purposes, in order to continue to conduct business.  I would suggest that, if this project were only even a simple break-even project, that we would still need to do it, because we had to replace those systems.  Some of those systems were, literally, in excess of 20 years old.  

     The fact that the project -- we are still forecasting and anticipating a positive project, with a very positive NPV -- suggests that this is a project that is in the interests of the ratepayer, even beyond the fact that we had to replace our Legacy systems.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, can I ask you to turn up, from my exhibit booklet that I delivered yesterday, last year's pre-filed evidence.  And it's at page 7 of the exhibit booklet.  

     And just so that you have it handy, if you could also, panel members, turn up Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 164, which is my client's Interrogatory No. 164. 

     Now looking, first, at page 7 of last year's pre-filed evidence -- or rather, 7 of -- page 7 of this document book, the original time-line for field-force implementation was between April 4 and June of 2005; is that correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  And looking at my client's Interrogatory No. 164, I take it that’s a new time-line.  I'm assuming that that's 2005 that this chart refers -- it's a 2005 chart; is that right? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, that's right.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  So the time-line for -- I’d like to integrate, if I can, these time-lines, Mr. Chiotti, so I understand exactly what the time-line is for field-force implementation.  Did it, in fact, begin in April of 2004? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  In that time-frame.  I can't remember, precisely, the start-up of the project, but it was in that -- roughly in that time-frame.  

     MR. WARREN:  And what 164 indicates is that we won't get to field-force operations -- or will we? When will we get to field-force operations?  At the end of 2005? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Well, in fact, the system will be in a pilot state as early as September, but the full roll-out of the system is scheduled for the beginning -- for the first quarter of 2006, as I believe Mr. Pleckaitis indicated, at one point.  

     MR. WARREN:  So implementation phase will be completed by the end of this year, is that right? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  No.  It will be a -- I lamented a while ago that we had to go “big bang” with the work-and-asset-management implementation.  Field-force is not the same situation and, in fact, we have the liberty of staging the implementation of the field-force component of this.  

     We have the liberty of doing it by geography. We have the liberty of doing it by individual work types.  We have the liberty of doing it with our forces versus the contractor forces.  We have not planned in detail the sequence of rollout, but it will be a staged implementation, beginning in the first quarter of 2006.  

     MR. WARREN:  Just continuing this, I'm trying to put the various pieces of this puzzle together.  Looking at Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 167, which is the -- my client's Interrogatory No.  167.  You've provided there, panel members, the payment schedule for full-force transformation, and the implementation of these, for a total of $12 million.  

     Now, members of the panel, you’ll see in that answer that there is a monthly payment.  And I think that may be confidential information; am I correct in that, Mr. Chiotti?  Mr. Pleckaitis? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  It is part of the fee schedule.  When I prepared this interrogatory response, I had Accenture's approval to include those figures as they are included, here, in the response.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, as I understand it, and subject to check - you folks are much better at math than I am - in April -- sorry, in 2004, from April 1 to September 1, 2004, there was a total of $3.95 million paid in Accenture fees for field-force transformation.  Take that subject to check, Mr. Chiotti? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, I will.      

     MR. WARREN:  And then, in the balance of 2004, there was payments in October, November, December, for a total of an additional $3 million in 2004?  Take that subject to check? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, I’ll take that, subject to check.  

     MR. WARREN:  Rough numbers.  So we're looking, at field-force transformation in 2004, approximately $7 million; is that correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  I’ll take that, subject to check.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, as I understood Ms. McCowan's answer to me earlier -- is that of -- not all of that $7 million was booked to rate base in 2004; is that correct? 

     MS. McCOWAN:  None of it was booked to rate base.  

     MR. WARREN:  None of it was booked to rate base, okay.  Was there any amount at all, for field-force transformation, booked to rate base in 2004? 

     MS. McCOWAN:  No.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And that's because it was not used and useful; is that correct? 

     MS. McCOWAN:  Not used or useful in 2004.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And, in 2005, there is a total of -- the total for implementation fees for field-force transformation is $12,000 -- $12 million, not 12,000.  I wish!  $12 million.  And the balance is to be paid in 2005.  

     Is it the plan that all of the $12 million for

field-force transformation will be booked to rate base in 2005? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  We're discussing the answer because I'm not privy to -- I don't have at my fingertips what, in fact, has been put together from a regulatory point of view.  I think we should take an undertaking to give you an answer on that.  We’d like to confer with our regulatory accounting folks, just to make sure that we're not misstating.  

     MR. WARREN:  Could I just -- Panel Members, before we try to pin down the undertaking, I would like to put one other piece of evidence to the witnesses so that they can understand the context. 

Would you turn up CCC interrogatory number 165.


MS. NOWINA:  165, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  Yes, it is.  Exhibit I, tab 5, number 165.  The answer ‑‑ the second half of the answer says:

"Given this new schedule, FFT operational costs will apply to the full 2006 year, and, therefore, there should be no lowering of the fees in 2006.  For the 2005 year, the company is now proceeding to determine the impact of the FFT phase operations as a result of the new FFT schedule."


So I take it that what you've ‑‑ what you are going to undertake to provide is the proposal of that portion of the FFT implementation fees that will be booked to rate base in 2005; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  And, once again, from my responses yesterday, I will just remind everyone that the operations stream of the services agreement calls for the establishment of a production environment.  That production environment needs to be established in advance of go-live.  It, in fact, becomes a part of the testing process of the system.  


That production environment is already in place with respect to field-force transformation.  We are and will be using it through the testing portion of the system.


MR. WARREN:  So could I, then, frame the undertaking this way:  Would you please advise us, Mr. Chiotti, of the company's proposal as to how much of field-force transformation implementation fees and how much of field- force transformation operations fees it proposes to book to rate base in 2005?  Have I framed it fairly?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's fine.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be given undertaking number J4.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.2:  AMOUNT OF FIELD-FORCE TRANSFORMATION IMPLEMENTATION AND OPERATIONS FEES TO BE BOOKED TO RATE BASE IN 2005


MR. WARREN:  And do I understand, Mr. Chiotti, that the rationale for booking -- even though field-force transformation is not yet in operation and is not yet, therefore, delivering any benefits to ratepayers, the rationale for booking it to rate base is that there are costs required to set the system up and get it ready to operate; is that correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Well, once again, as I think Ms. McCowan has indicated, one of the reasons that you see variances in the amounts booked to rate base, relative to the costs that have been incurred, is that we do not book to rate base until it is used and useful.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Then let me go back and see if I can go at this by baby steps.


As I understand it ‑ and this is at a very high and, therefore, crude level of understanding ‑ WAMS, as you described it yesterday, is the internal transformation of the system, the setting up of the computer systems, the IT that allows you internally to manage your work; is that correct, roughly speaking?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  I wouldn't want it to be misunderstood that the field workers don't, in some way, interact with the system, but they interact with the system through forms and paper, as opposed to electronic devices.


MR. WARREN:  And what field-force transformation is is that they're going to have these hand-held devices that are going to allow them to communicate with the office; is that fair?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  In fact, communicate directly with the systems.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And that communication with the systems will come into effect when the ‑‑ when the field-force transformation operations system actually begins, when they're out in the field with these hand-held devices; is that fair?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's right.


MR. WARREN:  And would it not then ‑‑ and that's when -- at that moment, when the benefits of the field-force transformation actually crystallize and begin to accrue to ratepayers is when those folks are out on the field with their hand‑held devices; is that not fair?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Excuse me.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CHIOTTI:  Regulatory accounting is not my specialty and I'm trying to be careful that I don't misinterpret or say something that isn't accurate, from a regulatory accounting point of view.


My understanding has always been that, you know, when something is used or useful, that it can be put into rate base.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chiotti, I'm sorry, I wasn't asking a question about regulatory accounting.  I was asking you a question about operations.  It's that level of simplicity.  At an operational level, field-force transformation, in an operational sense, is when these folks are out in the field with these little hand-held devices and are able to communicate with the system; is that right?  Is that a description of what it is?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Fair enough.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And the benefits of their having that and being able to do that, I'm suggesting to you, crystallize or come into existence, if you want, when the folks are out in the field with those hand‑held devices; is that not fair from an operational point of view?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's when we can anticipate being able to get benefits, yes.


MR. WARREN:  All right, thank you.  That's all I was asking.  We'll let more competent people than certainly me deal with the regulatory implications of that. 


Now, I want to turn, if I can, to the issue of benefits. 


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren, sorry, before you do that, can you give us some sense of how much longer your cross‑examination is going to take?


MR. WARREN:  Oh, James Jones' book "From Here to Eternity", that's what it feels like.  It's going to be a lot longer than I thought.  I would anticipate that I am going to have a minimum of another hour after lunch.  I apologize for that.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  I will look for you to find an appropriate spot for us to break for lunch, then.


MR. WARREN:  Yes.  Panel, on the issue of ‑‑ before I get to the HLB analysis and recommendations on benefits, I wonder if you could do this for me.


For 2004, let's just begin by dealing with the numbers.  If you could turn up Exhibit A6, tab 5, schedule 5, which is your pre-filed evidence this year, the actual benefits in 2004 were ‑‑ well, you tell me what they were.


MS. McCOWAN:  We've shown in that table, table 1, that they're $330,000.


MR. WARREN:  I take it, Ms. McCowan, you're the person who has the happy task within Enbridge of tracking where these benefits accrue?


MS. McCOWAN:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  In the course of doing your work, do you ‑‑ do you keep a record or some -‑ how do you go about your business of actually allocating benefits to specific areas?  How do you do that?


MS. McCOWAN:  I don't allocate benefits to specific areas.  I look to see where benefits have been achieved in specific areas.


MR. WARREN:  How do you do that?


MS. McCOWAN:  So in the case of 2004, I literally keep and kept a spreadsheet of the various areas where they had been able to identify savings that they ‑‑ each department would recognize as part of EnVision.


MR. WARREN:  So somebody -- is it you who makes the decision within Enbridge about whether or not a benefit is from EnVision to a particular point, or does somebody else say to you, This is a benefit which comes from EnVision and should be -- is in this area?


MS. McCOWAN:  There are areas within EnVision, and we've alluded to this through our benefit realization plans, where we look to see benefits.  So we would look to see benefits in some of the specific areas of the work management centre of our field labour productivity.  Then what I do is I try to look for specific ways in which we've been able to achieve those benefits, and so I look to the managers of those departments to show ‑‑ to demonstrate really that they have, in fact, been able to achieve benefits and that those benefits that have been achieved are, in fact, related to EnVision.


MR. WARREN:  Is there some kind of audit process at some point in each fiscal year to -- by which Enbridge can assure itself that these benefits have been correctly ascribed to the relevant areas?


MS. McCOWAN:  The benefits that are achieved are, in fact, reflected in the budgets of those -- or the actuals of those areas.  So in a sense that they show up in the -- in either a reduced person or in a reduced unit cost, that sort of thing, there is that which we track within --


MR. WARREN:  Is your spreadsheet anywhere in the evidence now for 2004?


MS. McCOWAN:  It's not.


MR. WARREN:  Can I get an undertaking to provide that spreadsheet?


MS. McCOWAN:  I could.  Can I propose to you, though, that as part of the work that we've done through HLB, that they have suggested that we need sort of a broader -- as part of what you will see coming forward with our next rate case, it would be a more transparent way of tracking the benefits.


MR. WARREN:  So I take it that whatever I get by way of your spreadsheet is about to change; is that fair?


MS. McCOWAN:  Mm‑hmm.


MR. WARREN:  Well, can I get an undertaking to see the spreadsheet with the evidence on the record that it's about to change?  Can I get that undertaking?


MS. McCOWAN:  Sure.


MR. WARREN:  Thanks.


MS. McCOWAN:  Again, I want to clarify exactly what you would like from me.  You would like the backup from my spreadsheet that reflects exactly where the 330,000 of EnVision benefits that we stated for 2004 were reflected?


MR. WARREN:  Right.  Please.


MS. McCOWAN:  Certainly.


MR. BATTISTA:  That would be undertaking J4.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.3:  2004 ENVISION BENEFITS SPREADSHEET AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS

MR. WARREN:  Now, for ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  The description for the record, a description of that?


MR. WARREN:  I have asked for Ms. McCowan to provide me with the spreadsheet and the backup documents for the spreadsheet showing where the benefits from the EnVision project were realized in 2004.  Is that an accurate description, Ms. McCowan?


MS. McCOWAN:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Battista, can you think of fewer words to say that in?


MR. WARREN:  I'm shocked anyone would think I wasn't succinct.


MR. BATTISTA:  How about spreadsheet regarding the allocation of 2004 statements?


MR. CASS:  How about 2004 benefits spreadsheet?


MS. NOWINA:  And I also ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Cass is --


MS. NOWINA:  Did I also hear "and supporting documents"? 


MR. WARREN:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  Now, Ms. McCowan, going into 2005, I take it that prior to receiving the HLB report on benefits realization, it was your intention to use the same spreadsheet and the same way of calculating benefits; is that correct?


MS. McCOWAN:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, HLB has made a number of recommendations which are embodied in the reports which are part of the record, and those recommendations at a high level of generality, as I understand it, are recommendations that would allow you to more precisely identify the benefits and to do so in a more transparent fashion; is that correct?


MS. McCOWAN:  Mm‑hmm.  I should clarify that the spreadsheet that I use has been evolving over time, and so to suggest that I didn't anticipate any change would be incorrect.


MR. WARREN:  I wasn't suggesting that, Ms. McCowan.


MS. McCOWAN:  Okay.


MR. WARREN:  What I want to understand, though, is if the intervenors ‑‑ if my client today wanted to understand how it is that benefits from EnVision are tracked, I take it that the response would be that how they are tracked is about to change as a result of HLB's recommendations; is that correct?


MS. McCOWAN:  I wouldn't make that assumption.  We are working ‑‑ in fact, the spreadsheet that I have used in the past is the method that HLB was ‑‑ thought was more transparent, for example, than the original metrics that we filed last year.  You may remember that in our 2004 evidence, we proposed a set of high-level metrics, such as capital costs per new customer and O&M costs per new customer or -- per customer.  And the feeling was that those metrics were both difficult to calculate and didn't provide sufficient transparency to show whether the benefits had been achieved as a result of EnVision.


What I actually used to track at a lower level was the spreadsheet, and it's that that we're more likely to move towards as being how we would report benefits in total.


MR. WARREN:  The fault may be mine, members of the panel, for trying to speed this cross‑examination up, and perhaps I should slow it down and engage you in this discussion, as well, Mr. Bruce.  


Could you turn up a response to an interrogatory from my client, which is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 181, which deals with -- in part, with the response to the recommendation?


Mr. Bruce, let me provide a context for my question.  My question is:  As we sit here today in an application dealing with 2006 rates, if the Board wanted to be able to track benefits that flow from EnVision, we have Ms. McCowan's existing system and HLB's made recommendations that that system change; is that correct?


MR. BRUCE:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, could you describe, as briefly as you can, Mr. Bruce, what it is that HLB has recommended by way of changes to the way that Ms. McCowan and Enbridge track the benefits?


MR. BRUCE:  At a high level, there is a number of recommendations that we made really focussed around ensuring transparency in, you know, establishing the business case numbers and benefits associated with EnVision.


So I think the fundamental change or the fundamental change that we recommended was, first of all, to

re-establish the business case and, through that process, really establish the metrics that will ultimately -- you know, these could be operational metrics, in terms of, you know -- you know, time to complete a work order, or whatever, but the operational metrics that would really drive EnVision benefits, and that going forward, those particular operational metrics be tracked and linked back to that business case so that there can be a reporting kind of transparency in the numbers.  


Now, there's going to be some instances when -- depending on the particular benefit stream, whereby there could be some components, you know, at a micro level, it would be very straightforward and you can actually point to perhaps head count reductions in one area and that would be very easily identifiable, very easy to identify, and there would be other areas that may be more complex.  


So, yes, in general, I would think that the current methodology would change, for sure, the linkage back to the business case, and then annual reporting.


MR. WARREN:  Let me explain what my problem is, Mr. Bruce, and see if you can help me with it, is that Enbridge has said that for 2004 there were some benefits.  They were perhaps de minimus, or $300,000, but has said that for 2005 the benefits are substantial; correct?  The exact number of forecast benefits for 2005 is 15.3 million; is that correct, Ms. McCowan?


MS. McCOWAN:  We have revised that statement to be $6 dollars in our evidence.


MR. WARREN:  And then for the year that we're dealing with, the rate year that we're dealing with, 2006, the forecast is $25 million in benefits.  Have I got that number correct, Ms. McCowan?


MS. McCOWAN:  No.  At the time we revised the 15.3 to 6, we revised the 25 to 19.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  With those numbers, with the revised numbers, my client, and perhaps other intervenors and the Board itself, they want to be able to assess how realistic the numbers are and whether or not there's been a correct allocation to various areas.


Now, we have Ms. McCowan's spreadsheet from last year, which she is going to deliver, and we have a spreadsheet in transition for 2005 and it's going to be changed because your -- Enbridge is responding to the HLB recommendations with a report which is going to be available in December, or thereabouts?


MS. McCOWAN:  Yes.  We're responding, but we're also, as you've noted, moving into a much more operationalizing piece of EnVision, right, where to date, the need to track benefits has not been significant, as you pointed out.  And so as we get more areas where more benefits are being created, the mechanisms that we use to track them are going to change.


MR. WARREN:  As we sit here today, Mr. Bruce, in the absence of Enbridge's proposal to respond to your recommendations, how will the Board be able to assess -‑ how, in your view, will be the Board be able to assess the accuracy of the forecast benefits for 2006, when we don't even have a completed tracking system in place yet?


MR. BRUCE:  The accuracy of the forecasted benefits for 2006?


MR. WARREN:  Right.


MR. BRUCE:  I mean, I -- I'm not ‑‑


MS. McCOWAN:  Do you want me to take that?  I'm not sure what value the tracking system would be in assessing the accuracy of the forecast.


MR. WARREN:  Well, we can't measure of the accuracy of what has happened in the past.


MS. McCOWAN:  The track ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Ms. McCowan, just let me ask the question.  As we sit here today, we can't assess the accuracy of what has transpired in the past, subject to the $300,000, and we can't do it for 2005 because it's been changed; is that fair?


MS. McCOWAN:  No.  I'm not sure why you don't think you can assess the accuracy of what's happened in the past. 


MR. WARREN:  Because as I understand it, Mr. Bruce has said you need a better system to track the accuracy of it.


MS. McCOWAN:  But I don't think he said there are deficiencies with the spreadsheet that I have used and the backup ‑‑ because I did provide this to Mr. Bruce, the backup, as part of his engagement -- the backup associated with each of the benefits that we've identified as an EnVision benefit, I provided the backup and what's behind the numbers that we've recorded.  And Mr. Bruce has not indicated ‑‑ maybe you would like to support that.


MR. BRUCE:  Yes.  And these were very tangible items.  My issue was essentially going forward and being able to put in place practices, if you will, so that going forward, as the benefits really started to come on line and were much more substantive, that they could be tracked.


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, this is a natural break point in the cross‑examination.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  We will break until 1:15 this afternoon.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:00 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:20 p.m. 


 

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

     Before we get back to Mr. Warren, are there any preliminary matters? 

     MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, if I might just quickly address some comments to the schedule, before cross-examination resumes? 

     MS. NOWINA:  Certainly, Mr. Cass.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:  

     MR. CASS:  I’ve several points to raise with the Board, but I will try to make them quick.  In relation to this afternoon, the company had planned for the

risk-management panel to come at some point in afternoon.  Of course, it wasn't clear when.  We've now put them on hold, and they may well be listening in.  I wonder if it would be possible to get an indication of whether there really is any chance that we’ll reach risk management this afternoon.  That's point number 1.  

     Point number 2, if there is any chance we're going to go later than -- it would take longer than 4 o'clock today to finish this panel, I'm just wondering whether the Board would be available and willing to sit a little late to finish the panel, if that became necessary, because of scheduling and timing constraints.

     So those are two points in relation to today.  If I might, then, just address tomorrow.  Our assumption, then, would be that we could start risk management, perhaps, first thing tomorrow.   The company's plan is that the panel dealing with series-300 rates would follow risk management.  And, again, is planning that that could well happen some time tomorrow afternoon.  

     I may be not totally accurate - I stand to be corrected, if I'm wrong - but I think the time estimates for risk management are in the neighbourhood of four hours, which, perhaps, makes it a little touch-and-go as to whether we would get to the series-300 rates panel in the afternoon.  

     So I just raise that for two reasons.  First of all, I think there is a particular group that has an interest in that series-300 issue, and I think they would want to know when it’s likely to come on.  And second, if the -- if it’s unrealistic for the company to be thinking that they’d be reached tomorrow afternoon, then, perhaps, it would be good if we could learn that at the earliest possible opportunity.  

     I'm sorry, that's quite a number of points, but it is a little complicated keeping the schedule in a logical and workable order 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  I think I got all of your points.  

     Let's start with the remainder of our discussion with this panel. 

     Mr. Warren, can you give us a sense of how much longer you think you’ll be? 

     MR. WARREN:  I promised Mr. Thompson I’ll be done by 2:15, but promises are worth what he pays for them.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Let me urge you to try to do that. 

     MR. WARREN:  I will try to honour my promise. 

     MS. NOWINA:  And Mr. Thompson? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  My bet is he doesn't finish until 2:30, but -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  I might prod him a little, Mr. Thompson.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I suspect -- I indicated yesterday I thought a half an hour, but that was an underestimate.  I think I will be an hour, and maybe a bit more.  So, depending on when Mr. Warren finishes, I’ll probably -- and we take a break, I'm probably going to take us close to 4 o'clock.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall? 

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm not as inspired to be expansive as my friends.  I might take my estimate down from 30 minutes to 15 minutes, and I might take it down even further.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Fine.  Thank you.  

     I would really like to finish this panel today.  And so I urge all parties to accommodate us finishing this panel today.  

     So in the interests of doing that, in terms of staying late, I have an appointment at 4:15.  I’ll stay until 4:14.  I need a minute to get upstairs.   

     Are my colleagues okay with that? 

[The Board confers]

     So that's today.  So let's make the assumption - and, hopefully, it’s a strong assumption - that we will begin risk management tomorrow morning.  

     Now, can the parties give me any indication of how long they think they're going to take in questioning risk management?  

     Mr. Cass first, in terms of your examination in-chief.  

     MR. CASS:  I think there will be some examination

in-chief.  That issue is actually being handled by Mr. O'Leary, and he did -- I was speaking to him during the lunch break, and he said perhaps a half an hour of examination in-chief.  

     Now, in terms of time estimates, I believe that Energy Probe is a -- has a major interest in that issue, and I don't think they're represented today.  But the company has gathered time estimates for cross-examination, which came to a total of four hours, I believe.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  So that will take us to -- and then series-300 should begin tomorrow afternoon.

     Well, why don't we assume that we can do that?  Any thoughts? 

     MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

[The Board confers]

     MS. NOWINA:  Sorry for the delay, and I think we will just proceed now.  

     So, again, Mr. Warren, if you can help us meet that schedule so we can complete this issue today, we would really appreciate it.

ENVISION PANEL 1; Resumed:


Arunas Pleckaitis; Previously Sworn


Janet Holder; Previously Sworn


Lloyd Chiotti; Previously Sworn


Catherine McCowan; Previously Sworn

Dennis Bruce; Previously Sworn


CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN: 

     MR. WARREN:  Panel, I have two areas I want to cover.  One, I -- is just a final touch on the rate-making implications of the EnVision proposal.  

     How, Mr. Chiotti, were the management legacy systems treated, from an accounting perspective? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  I'm sorry, I’m -- 

     MR. WARREN:  Were they capped lost or were they O&M?  What was -- how were they treated?  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  I'm sorry, I have no knowledge of that, so --

     MS. HOLDER:  The Legacy systems have been capitalized.  They’ve -- earned capital 

     MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry? 

     MS. HOLDER:  They were -- they had -- they were in rate base and had been depreciated.  Some had already depreciated down to zero.  There were some costs there, I don't recall the numbers but -- 

     MR. WARREN:  And what was the appreciation rate, and over what period? 

     MS. HOLDER:  Each system would have had a different rate, and I can't tell you. 

     MR. WARREN:  Can you undertake to provide that information to me, Ms. Holder? 

     MS. HOLDER:  I can't.  

     MR. WARREN:  Well, can Enbridge undertake to do it, Ms. Holder? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  We will undertake that, to the -- sorry.  My reticence is, systems that are 25 years old.  But to the extent that we can do that, we will.  

     MS. McCOWAN:  Which of the -- just to be clear, which of the specific systems that you're interested in -- 

     MR. WARREN:  Well, let me -- panel, in the interests of time, let me -- what I'm trying to get at is whether there was a difference in the accounting treatment -- proposed accounting treatment of EnVision and the way the Legacy systems that are replaced were treated.  So if you can -- if there's a short-form way of getting at that answer, panel, terrific. 

     MS. HOLDER:  Okay.

     MR. CHIOTTI:  There’s, absolutely, a difference in the way EnVision is being treated from the Legacy systems.  Legacy systems were developed as in-house systems, capital projects that were capitalized as IT systems.  EnVision is a fee-for-service application-service-provider situation.  The capitalization of the 90 percent of EnVision costs go to mains and services, because that is the asset, if you will, that the benefits are related to.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And that's -- the original proposal for the WAMS system was to allocate 50 percent to capital and 50 percent to O&M; correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  That was the initial determination.  

     MR. WARREN:  Right.  And it was changed to 90:10.  And the rationale for the change to 90:10 was what? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  We felt that the allocation of cost to capital and O&M should be consistent with where the benefits were going to be derived.  And we did a calculation based on where we saw the system impacting the various operations of the organization, and whether those areas were areas that were covered in capital or covered in O&M.  

     That analysis indicated that the split of those benefits was that 90 percent were related to capital-related activity, and ten percent was related to O&M.  And we presented to -- we presented, in the 2005 evidence that that was the split that we were proposing going forward.  

     MR. WARREN:  Over what period of time will they be depreciated? 


MR. CHIOTTI:  They will be depreciated as mains and services are depreciated today, which here again I'm ‑‑ it's not my area of expertise, but I believe that is in the order of 25 years.


MR. WARREN:  What's the depreciation rate?


MR. CHIOTTI:  I would ...

     MS. HOLDER:  It's ‑‑


MR. CHIOTTI:  Four percent per year.


MR. WARREN:  Has Enbridge -- well, can -- let me ask this question to try to shorten it up.  Can you provide us with an analysis, Mr. Chiotti or members of the panel, of the impact on ratepayers of the following three scenarios?  One is the 90:10 split accounting treatment; the second is the 50:50 accounting split; and the third would be if the Accenture fees were charged entirely to O&M.


MS. HOLDER:  Before my panel members take the undertaking, I just want to make one comment.  The split 90:10, which is based upon the actual ‑‑ or how we believe benefits will be incurred has been vetted through our accounting department.


We are following appropriate accounting practices, and that was determined when we came up with 90:10.  So if we do an undertaking of 50:50, we may have to qualify that.  From an accounting perspective, that may not be appropriate methodology for accounting for these assets.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that, and there may be others who disagree with that accounting treatment, but can I get an undertaking to do that analysis for us, please?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give that J4.4, and we will concisely describe that as:  Impact on ratepayers' scenarios.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.4:  IMPACT ON RATEPAYERS' SCENARIOS

MR. WARREN:  Panel, my final area I want to deal with relates to the ADR agreement last year.  The place I would like to start, please, is at tab 2 of the evidence book that I filed yesterday.  And at tab 2 is the evidence which was filed by Messrs. Stephens and Wolnik in last year's rate case.


Now, Mr. Chiotti, in the interest of time, I'm going to take you to portions of this evidence, and I want to preface this by saying I'm not asking you to agree with anything that Mr. Stephens says.  I simply want to identify if we can agree that Mr. Stephens had certain concerns that were expressed in the report.


Now, looking first at page 50 of the document book, which is page 10, and then page 11, can you and I agree -- and, again, I preface it by saying you don't have to agree with what Mr. Stephens said, but part of Mr. Stephens' critique was that the RFP selection process was not open and fair, and therefore not reasonable, and that one of the results of that was -- or one of the problems with that was that there was no consideration of alternate cost solutions to the EnVision proposal.  


Do you agree that that was part of his critique?


MR. CHIOTTI:  You're asking me to agree that that is what he said on page 50?


MR. WARREN:  Yes.


MR. CHIOTTI:  Okay, I agree.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Looking at page 57, can we agree, looking at the conclusions, that Mr. Stephens expressed a concern?  He said:

"What is clear from the evidence is that EGD did not assess alternatives to the Accenture FFT solution, but the comparison is essential in our view in order to assess the reasonableness of the overall costs and the extent to which they may be too high."


You will agree that that is a concern that Mr. Stephens expressed?


MR. CHIOTTI:  I agree that he has expressed that on page 57 here, yes.


MR. WARREN:  And, finally, panel members, if you take a look at page 63 of the document brief, in the conclusions expressed at the bottom of the page:

"The EnVision operation services costs are not reasonable in our view because, one, EGD did not evaluate any alternatives to the Accenture fees, and, two, our analysis estimates that the cost of operating EnVision systems would be approximately $3 million per year, less costly using insourcing approach than the Accenture ASP arrangement."


Do you agree that that was one of his concerns?


MR. CHIOTTI:  I agree that that is what is written here on this page, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, Ms. Holder, you were present as part of the exchanges last year over the EnVision proposal.  Would I be fair in summarizing your response to the expressed concerns - that there was inadequate evidence in support of the proposed costs - that your response globally to it was what I would call a value response, that the benefits that the ratepayers were getting was so ‑‑ were so significant that costs were a secondary consideration; is that fair?


MS. HOLDER:  No, that's not fair.


MR. WARREN:  All right.  The cost analysis which you prepared last year, Ms. Holder, consisted, as I recollect it, of saying that the Accenture costs were essentially the same as the costs to do this project in house; is that fair?


MS. HOLDER:  I'm not sure if I said it that way.  I think what I would say, and I think I characterized this in the past, is that we did do some reasonableness tests and that if we looked at the -- just the DPWAMS component, we knew what that roughly was and felt that was comparable to what we had negotiated with Accenture.  If you looked at the run costs, which we were calling the operating costs, that was very much what we were already paying for running all of these Legacy systems.  So we did have some reasonableness tests that we used.


This was a negotiations -- the rates were negotiated.  The final fee schedule was through negotiation.


MR. WARREN:  But am I right in saying that the overall -- your defence of the EnVision proposal, in the face of Mr. Stephens' concern about the absence of evidence on costs, was a value one; that the benefits were so great that the overall value justified approval of the EnVision project; is that not fair?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. HOLDER:  It is fair to characterize that we ‑‑ we were using a value comparison.  But in value is not just benefits, but also the costs.


MR. WARREN:  Now, panel, if you would turn up, please, the third tab?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Excuse me, Mr. Warren.  I recognize we are trying to expedite this, but I would just like to add a comment to what Ms. Holder said.


Value, in fact, goes beyond just costs and benefits.  There are inherent values in the fact that this was a package deal, and I think I tried to explain some of that in examination in‑chief.  It was important, from our perspective, to have one provider who would develop the application, have accountability to develop it in a way that would ensure that they could also operate it efficiently, and ultimately also be involved in helping us achieve the benefits.


There is -- in our assessment, there is inherent value in that proposition, so I just wanted to add that.


MR. WARREN:  That's part of the value analysis that Enbridge brought to the EnVision project; is that fair, Mr. Chiotti?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now looking at tab 3, and I would ask you to turn to page 97.  And this is an extract from the ADR agreement last year.  If you would turn to the third full paragraph, please, in that, this is, if you wish, a preamble to the terms of the agreement.


And in the middle of it, that third full paragraph, the following statements appear:

"Some intervenors remain concerned about the EnVision project's overall projected costs and benefits.  In the intervenors' view, the evidence filed to date has not been sufficient to determine whether the ongoing costs and benefits are reasonable."


Have I accurately quoted, Mr. Chiotti?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes. 


MR. WARREN:  Now, the company didn't agree with that, and that's what the next sentence says; right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's right.


MR. WARREN:  Now, in the next paragraph, the one immediately below it, the second sentence reads:

"Accordingly, parties see the value and the need for ..."


And I underscore the following words:

"... independent assessment of the project." 


Correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  An independent consultant to assess the project, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Right.  Now, what was agreed to then in the following paragraphs are the following:

"One, the company will retain an independent consultant to assess the overall project cost to determine whether the fee levels and the fee structure with Accenture are appropriate, relative to the services and value being provided.”

In the context of this review, the consultant will benchmark the services and costs described in the services agreement between Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. and Accenture Inc. against the market; is that correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, Enbridge put out a RFP.  And, in the process of putting out the RFP, it engaged in discussions with the intervenors about what the terms of the RFP should be; is that correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  And, included in one of the interrogatory responses, is an exchange of e-mail correspondence between Ms. Hare and I - being Ms. Hare and me, I'm sorry - on what the terms of the RFP should be.  And that appears at -- I apologize, I should have had this at my fingertips.
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     MR. WARREN:  It is Interrogatory Response 175, Exhibit I, tab 5, scheduled 175.  

     Now, in the interests of time, Mr. Chiotti, can we agree that I wrote to Ms. Hare, on September 21st of 2004, in response to the first draft of the RFP, and attached to that letter was an appendix A, which appears at page 3 of 55 of the attachment.  Do you see that?       

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  And we -- in that letter I had suggested -- 

     Does the Panel -- do the Panel Members have that?  Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 175, and it's page 3 of 5 of the attachment.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I think we're still working on it, Mr. Warren.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Page 3 of 55, Mr. Warren?     

     MR. WARREN:  3 of 55, sir.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  We have it.  

     MR. WARREN:  This appendix A, if you read the letter, are suggestions of additions to or supplements to the RFP.  And number 2 in the “Overall Approach” is:

“Briefly describe the overall approach your company uses to IT and ASP price-benchmarking.  Describe the differences between that approach and the approach used in cost-benchmark.”

     Is that correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  And describe -- and then, point 3:

“Describe how your approach provides an accurate estimate of the fair market value of outsourced IT and ASP services.”

     Correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, if we then turn over, sir -- just continuing, panel members, in that same attachment, to tab 5, schedule 175, page 6 of 55, we have the actual RFP, itself; is that correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  We have the RFP as dated September 27, 2004, yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, if you would then go to the next exhibit, which is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 176.  This is, as I understand the interrogatory response, the actual -- I'm sorry, this is the actual RFP that went out to certain people, pursuant to the ADR agreement. 

     If I could ask you, sir, to turn up the first page, page 2 of 52.  There is a reference there, towards the bottom, to the settlement agreement --  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Sorry, you’ve lost me, Mr. Warren.   

     MR. WARREN:  Page 2 of 52, tab 5, schedule 176.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Tab 5, schedule 176. 

     MR. WARREN:  Appendix A, page 2. 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  I'm getting there, I'm getting there.  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Towards the bottom of that page, there's a reference to the settlement agreement, and it says -

“Per that settlement, Enbridge would like to retain an independent consultant.”

     That was a specific requirement of the RFP; correct?  That it be an independent consultant? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, if you turn -- if you look at the bottom of the page, it says:

“The successful respondent will be expected to review the following:  the contract between Enbridge and Accenture, the evidence filed with the Ontario Energy Board, --”

     Over at the top of the next page. 

“-- questions from intervenors, and Enbridge's response to these questions.”  

     Now, if we go along to Page 9 of that appendix, Mr. Chiotti -- 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Are you saying page 9 of 52, or the numbering on the bottom -- 

     MR. WARREN:  Sorry --

     MR. CHIOTTI:  -- of the page? 

     MR. WARREN:  Page 9 of 52, I'm sorry.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  It would appear that the appendix that was attached to the RFP is the pre-filed evidence of Enbridge in the case last year; is that fair? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me, sir, as part of the RFP, when it was distributed, was the pre-filed evidence of Mr. Stephens sent to the prospective respondents to the RFP? 

     MS. McCOWAN:  No, it wasn't.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, if I ask you, then, to turn back to this year's pre-filed evidence -- and I apologize to you, and to the Panel, for bouncing around on this, but I’m trying to make this both brief and coherent -- Exhibit A6, tab 5, this time, schedule 4.  

     Does everyone have that?  This is part of your pre-filed evidence in this case, and it deals with the independent consultant's report.  

     Now, if I look, then, to the bottom, paragraph number 4.

“Criteria used to select a consultant are listed below.”

     And there are several bullet items.  And if you go over to page 2, you see, in the fifth bullet item:

“evidence that what the consultant proposes to prepare will meet intervenor expectations.”  

     Correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  And can you confirm, Mr. Chiotti, that that is one of the criteria that Enbridge used in deciding to retain HLB? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.     

     MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, I would ask you, then, if you wouldn't mind turning over to a cluster of what have been identified as confidential exhibits.  And this is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 177, attachment 1.  What it’s identified as is “Benchmark, EnVision Contract Proposal, prepared by HLB Decision Economics Inc.”   

     MS. NOWINA:  Can you give the reference again, Mr. Warren? 

     MR. WARREN:  Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 177, attachment 1, and it's a confidential exhibit.  So it may be -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  We may not have it, Mr. Battista.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  It's under lock and key.  I’ll have to go and get it. 

     MS. NOWINA:  It was so confidential that we don't have it.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Can we just have the reference one more time, to make sure it’s -- 

     MR. WARREN:  Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 177, attachment 1.

     MS. NOWINA:  That’s not appendix A.  We have an appendix A.  

     MR. WARREN:  What I have is identified in my book as attachment 1, that's ‑‑ what it is, the document is a benchmark EnVision contract proposal, HLB decision economics November 11, 2004.


MS. NOWINA:  We don't have it.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Now we do.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson to the rescue.  Thank you.  We will look at it.


MR. WARREN:  Does the panel have it?  Sorry, does the witness panel have it?  


MS. McCOWAN:  We have a copy, but -- I'm not sure it is 177.


MR. WARREN:  Well, I would give you my copy, but it has some explosive marginalia on it.


MR. CHIOTTI:  We think we have the document you referenced here. 


MR. WARREN:  When I start quoting passages of it, I'm sure you'll tell me in a hurry that it's correct.  I would like to take you to page 3 of that document.


It's identifiable at the top.  It has got, "Step 1, Reconnaissance".


MR. CHIOTTI:  We're with you.


MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, first of all, in the middle of that paragraph, under the heading "Benchmark Criteria", the sentence reads:

"Without having conducted a reconnaissance, it is our sense that the Enbridge objective in the case at hand is to secure best value, not lowest price in relation to the RAROC (risk adjusted return on capital) and the ROI.  The latter is measured by net present value of the business transformation in perpetuity."


Have I quoted that correctly?


MR. CHIOTTI:  This is in the paragraph that is headed "Benchmark Criteria"?


MR. WARREN:  Yes.


MR. CHIOTTI:  Roughly halfway through the paragraph?


MR. WARREN:  Yes.


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, turning you to you, Mr. Bruce, are you the author of the sentence:  

"Without having conducted a reconnaissance, it is our sense that the Enbridge objective in the case at hand ..."


Did you write that?


MR. BRUCE:  I believe it was written by David Lewis --


MR. WARREN:  But you saw ‑‑


MR. BRUCE:  -- the head of our firm.


MR. WARREN:  But you saw it and you adopt it as the HLB submission, I take it?


MR. BRUCE:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  What I am puzzled by is the use of the term "Enbridge objective".  Why was the Enbridge objective a determinative consideration, when this was supposed to be an independent consultant's report?  


MR. BRUCE:  I received the RFP from Enbridge.  I read the documentation and the requirements, and I ‑‑ we, HLB, put forth a proposal based on that RFP.


MR. WARREN:  Well, it was specified in the RFP that this was to be an independent assessment.  You understood that, did you not?


MR. BRUCE:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  And in those circumstances, why would the Enbridge objective be determinative?


MS. McCOWAN:  But, Mr. Warren, the Enbridge objective ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  Can I just get an answer from Mr. Bruce, please, as this is his document?  Sorry, Mr. Chiotti, can I get Mr. Bruce to answer the question, please?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Can we not confer?


MR. WARREN:  This is a question which is directed to Mr. Bruce.  It is from HLB's perspective, not Enbridge's.  Can I get an answer from Mr. Bruce, please?


MR. BRUCE:  I received an RFP.  I responded to the RFP.  The RFP laid out the requirements, and, as is often the case in the role that HLB plays, we did an independent assessment of the requirements of the RFP.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, might the witnesses now be permitted to complete the answer to the question?


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren?  Mr. Warren, do you have a problem with the other panel members ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  In the interests of time, Madam Chair, rather than arguing about it, if the other witnesses want to add what they want, but ...


MS. McCOWAN:  Madam Chair, I was just going to add that the objective of Enbridge in issuing the RFP was to address the concerns of intervenors expressed during the settlement agreement.  So in addressing Enbridge's objective, HLB was ultimately addressing the intervenors' concerns.


MR. WARREN:  Well, let's just test that.  Was that your understanding of it, Mr. Bruce?


MR. BRUCE:  Pardon?


MR. WARREN:  Was that your understanding, that when you talked about the Enbridge objective, you were talking about satisfying the intervenors' concerns, as well?


MR. BRUCE:  I was talking about satisfying, yes, the information provided as part of that RFP.


MR. WARREN:  You hadn't seen Mr. Stephens' evidence at that point, had you?


MR. BRUCE:  No, I did not.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if I continue after the words "Enbridge objective", it says:

"... in the case at hand is to secure best value, not lowest price."  


Now, did you understand that Mr. Stephens' focal concern was on best price and whether or not this was an appropriate price for the services being provided?  Did you understand that?


MR. BRUCE:  I had not seen documentation from Mr. Stephens.


MR. WARREN:  Well, I'm going to suggest to you --


MR. BRUCE:  At that time.


MR. WARREN:  -- Mr. Bruce, for your comment, is that when this was delivered, this wording suggests that you were adopting Enbridge's analysis of the issue; namely, that this was a value consideration as opposed to testing prices or costs against the market; is that not fair?


MR. BRUCE:  Sorry.  Well, yes, the settlement agreement was attached to ‑‑ Catherine just reminded me, was attached to the RFP, so I was aware of that.


MR. WARREN:  I would like to get an answer to my question.  It would appear, from my reading of this, that what you have done is, you have adopted the framework of analysis that I discussed with Ms. Holder earlier, that the issue was the overall value consideration as opposed to the concerns which Mr. Stephens had expressed about the absence of comparative data on costs and prices.  Is that not a fair summary on my part of what you have written in this document?


MR. BRUCE:  The document does focus on the value equation, but, again, part of that is looking at what your alternatives are, which does give that comparative analysis.


MR. WARREN:  Now, Mr. Chiotti, when you saw this response, in light of the fact that you said in Exhibit A6, tab 5, schedule 4, page 2, that one of the considerations in determining who was to be the consultant was "evidence that what the consultant proposes to prepare will meet intervenor expectations".  


This statement that I have just taken Mr. Bruce to, did it not seem inconsistent with, and indeed in opposition to, the intervenors' concerns and that it might not meet intervenor expectations?  Did you have that concern, Mr. Chiotti?


MR. CHIOTTI:  No, I did not.


MR. WARREN:  I take it we can agree, Mr. Chiotti, that the terms of this RFP that came back from HLB were not discussed with the intervenors to see whether or not they had a concern with HLB's understanding of their mandate; is that fair?


MS. HOLDER:  Sorry, can I interject?  I want to go back a couple of questions where you were -- maybe I am reading you wrong, but alluding that HLB did not necessarily take the interests of the intervenors into consideration, nor was he addressing the ADR agreement.  But the first sentence, which I don't believe you did state, in the ADR agreement, which is Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 26 of 59, says:  

"The company will retain an independent consultant to assess the overall project costs to determine whether the fee levels and fee structures with Accenture are the appropriate relative to the services and value being provided."


MR. WARREN:  I agree with that, Ms. Holder, but there is also reference in there to costs, and there is no discussion in this paragraph of costs, can we agree with that, in the HLB response?  Costs are not mentioned in there, are they?  


The only thing that HLB appears to pick up on is, and the wording is quite correct, is quite precise:

"It is our sense that the Enbridge objective in the case at hand is to secure best value, not lowest price."


That's what it says.  Is it not fair for us to conclude that what HLB was doing was responding to your view of the EnVision project and not incorporating, as an independent consultant, what the intervenors were concerned about; is that not fair, Ms. Holder?


MS. HOLDER:  No, I don't think it is.  I think the ‑- it was part of the discussions with HLB when they were originally retained, and we were asking them, as we read this and understood the ADR, is to assure that there -- that the costs ‑‑ that the -- basically everything brought together are appropriate relative to the services and value being provided.


MR. WARREN:  But did you not consider the possibility -- in light of the fact that one of your criteria was what the consultant proposes to prepare will meet intervenor expectations, did you not consider the possibility of taking that wording to see whether or not it was consistent with the intervenor expectations, and take it to the intervenors and say, Is this consistent with your expectations?


MS. HOLDER:  The report?


MR. WARREN:  No, this response to the request for proposal.  Your criteria says, "Evidence of what the consultant proposes" ‑‑ this is their proposal ‑‑ "will meet intervenor expectation."  Why wouldn't you take that to the intervenors to see if it did meet their expectation?


MS. HOLDER:  To be honest with you, I don't think it was something we even considered.  It was just ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, if you could turn in the same document, panel members, to page 12, this is the response.  I'm on page 3, and we'll move along to page 12.


 MS. HOLDER:  I just want to make one other comment - I think it is probably appropriate here - is that when we engaged in discussions with the consultant, we never gave any direction that would say to them that, You should follow our methodology.  I just want to make that very clear.  


We weren't giving direction.  HLB followed the methodology that they chose.  It was not on our direction.


MR. WARREN:  Looking at page 12, Mr. Bruce, you responded in this, under the heading "Potential Conflicts of Interest".  It says, and I quote:  

"HLB Economics is not in a conflict of interest situation of either Accenture or Enbridge.  HLB discloses that it has worked with Accenture in the past in the role of independent third party between Accenture and other parties."


And then, specifically, it says, among other things, at the third bullet point:

"HLB was contracted by Accenture in 2002 to act as an independent third party in Accenture and the Ottawa‑Carleton District School Board and OCDSB reference has opinion provided."


MR. BRUCE:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I take it that Enbridge didn't regard the fact that HLB had worked for Accenture in the past as disqualifying them from responding from getting the contract; is that right?


MS. HOLDER:  That's right.


MR. WARREN:  Is it possible, Ms. Holder, that the intervenors might have had a different view, in light of the fact that what was under consideration was a contract for $123 million over ten years between Accenture and Enbridge Gas Distribution?  Is it ‑‑ Ms. Holder, if you would just listen to my question.  


Is it not possible that the intervenors might have had some concern about the past involvement of HLB with Accenture?


MS. HOLDER:  Again, I think two points here.  The first is that just about every consultant, I suspect, that was in a position to respond to this RFP probably has had some experience with Accenture through their lifetime, so it wasn't a consideration, from our perspective.  


And the second point, again, we didn't take ‑‑ didn't even cross our minds that we should go back to the intervenors, who agreed with the list of consultants that we should send the RFP out to, on whether they would accept them once they responded.


MR. WARREN:  My question to you is a narrower one, Ms. Holder.  If you look at it today, do you not agree that the fact that HLB had, within apparently the year ‑‑ sorry, apparently within the last two or three years worked with Accenture might have been a concern to the intervenors?


MR. BRUCE:  Sorry, just one point.  In these particular engagements, when we have worked with Accenture, we have acted as third party.


MS. HOLDER:  Yes.


MR. BRUCE:  That's in part why -- one of the references I gave, where obviously someone else that was another party to one of those agreements and someone that experienced our role as third party, because in that particular engagement, because of our findings, nothing was pursued in terms of the solution that they were looking for.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Bruce, you understood, when you responded to this proposal, that your obligation was to act as an independent consultant; correct?


MR. BRUCE:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And that acting as an independent consultant, you had to be sensitive to and responsive to the concerns of others, of groups other than Enbridge; correct?


MR. BRUCE:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  Did it occur to you that the possible involvement with Accenture might -- your past involvement with Accenture might have caused a concern to the other groups to whom you were supposed to be responsive?


MR. BRUCE:  I did not think so, no, especially when I was willing to put on the record essentially the level of involvement we've had with Accenture over the years and the record has been as third party. 


Often -- most times we've been contracted totally separately between the two parties, and other times due to what I shall say, you know, ease of the bureaucracy, depending on the entity that we have been acting as third party with -- such as Department of Homeland Security.  They wanted to engage HLB under the Accenture contract, but we acted in that capacity as third party and continued to be independent.


MR. WARREN:  You put it on the record.  I take it that you included it in what you said to Enbridge in responding to the RFP; is that correct?


MR. BRUCE:  Sorry, just to make sure I got that right?


MR. WARREN:  When you say you put it on the record ‑‑


MR. BRUCE:  Yes, I disclosed it my RFP response.


MR. WARREN:  But it wasn't disclosed to the other parties, was it, Mr. Bruce?  It wasn't disclosed to the intervenors, was it?


MR. BRUCE:  Pardon?  Not that I know of.

     MS. HOLDER:  There was no form to do that and again we've already indicated we did not think to go back to the intervenors and review with them the selected bidder, given that the intervenors had agreed with the selection list to start off with.  

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Bruce, do you have a copy of yesterday's transcript?  If you don't, can you get a copy of it, please.  

     MR. BRUCE:  Okay.  

     MR. WARREN:  If I could ask you to turn -- if the Panel Members have it --

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  -- turn to page 69 of yesterday's transcript.  Mr. Cass had asked you a question -- asked you to respond to Mr. Stephens' comments about your use of the US database, and I quote your response:  

“Again, we indicated and determined that, you know, traditional cost-benchmark approach was not appropriate for evaluating the EnVision project.  We focused more on value.” 

     Now, just keeping that transcript reference in mind, I would like to take you, please, to the document we've just been looking at, which is your RFP response.   And for the record, it is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 177, attachment 1.  

     In the interests of time, can you agree with me, Mr. Bruce, that nowhere in that RFP response does a statement to the effect that traditional cost-benchmark approach was not appropriate for evaluating the EnVision project -- a statement like that or to that effect appears nowhere in your RFP response.  

     MR. BRUCE:  I would have to go back and refresh my mind with the document. 

     MR. WARREN:  Can you take it, subject to check, that I am right about that?  Because I read it recently, and you can correct me on the record later, if that's not the case. 

     MR. BRUCE:  Just one second, please.  I mean, in terms of our response -- I mean, clearly, we didn't recommend doing traditional cost-benchmarking methodology. 

     MR. WARREN:  Is there anywhere in the response in which you say a traditional cost-benchmark approach is not appropriate to the evaluation -- 

     MR. BRUCE:  Not explicitly, no.

     MR. WARREN:  Sorry?  It wasn't in there? 

     MR. BRUCE:  Well, I’ll take your word for it.  You said you looked at it recently. 

     MR. WARREN:  Now I would like you, if you wouldn't mind, to turn up your actual work product. 

     Panel members, the exhibit no. is Exhibit A6, tab 5, schedule 3.  

     MR. BRUCE:  Sorry, Mr. Warren, what page are you on? 

     MR. WARREN:  I'm trying to go as slowly as I can, so that everybody can catch up.  It’s Exhibit A6, tab 5, schedule 3, and then, to schedule 3, there are a number of appendices.  This is marked - and it's a little bit confusing - it's marked in the upper right-hand corner as appendix B, although the document itself is called “Appendix E - Cost Benchmark Assessment.”  

     MS. NOWINA:  Appendix B? 

     MR. WARREN:  It’s Appendix B, in the upper right-hand corner -- is the identifier of the formal exhibit number -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mm-hmm.

     MR. WARREN:  -- though the document, itself, is called “Appendix E”, because it’s appendix E to Mr. Bruce's company's working paper.  

     MS. NOWINA:  It says -- what we have marked as Appendix B says “Working Paper No. 2" on it.  “Benchmark of the EnVision Contract.”  

     MR. WARREN:  And it, in turn, has a number of appendices.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Ah, all right.  

     MR. WARREN:  And it’s appendix E. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sommerville has found it, and he’ll help the rest of us.  Go on from there.  

     MR. WARREN:  Just in terms of the -- identifying what this document is, Mr. Bruce, it is the -- that portion of your analysis which deals with costs; is that correct?   It’s the cost benchmark portion of it.  

     MR. BRUCE:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, again, keeping in mind that what you said at transcript page 69 yesterday, which

-- I’ll refresh your memory by saying:

“We indicated and determined that, you know, traditional cost-benchmark approach was not appropriate for evaluating the EnVision project.”  

     MR. BRUCE:  That's correct. 

     MR. WARREN:  Now, as I read appendix E, which is your cost-benchmark assessment, that qualification appears nowhere in that cost-benchmark assessment; correct? 

     MR. BRUCE:  I believe that to be correct.  But if I could -- when I say traditional cost-benchmark approach would be inappropriate for evaluating EnVision, the reason I say that is because we focused on a value assessment for EnVision, which includes many components.  And the structure of the evaluation we did on EnVision really relates to ensuring that the negotiation process, execution, project management, governance, and that the value, at the end of the day, is achieved by the ratepayer.  

     Now that being said, in looking at that, we did have a criteria that provided some data that indicated that, in a very broad and, you know, illustrative perspective -- that the, you know, rates generally charged in the marketplace are competitive amongst the key competitors in this marketplace.  But --

     MR. WARREN:  By the time --

     MR. BRUCE:  -- when I -- sorry -- 

     MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  Go ahead, please.

     MR. BRUCE:  No, just -- when I say “traditional cost-benchmark”, I mean, you know, strictly building up the costs associated with the particular IT system or component.  

     MR. WARREN:  By the time you wrote appendix E -- had you read Mr. Stephens' evidence by then? 

     MR. BRUCE:  I would believe I would have, sir.     

     MR. WARREN:  And if you read Mr. Stephens' evidence, you would have understood that the core of Mr. Stephens' concern on this issue was the absence of any basis on which you could assess the reasonableness of the costs. 

     MR. BRUCE:  Yes.  Mr. Stephens, as I recall -- and I think as we spoke to -- or you spoke to earlier, two of his concerns, specifically, were that no consideration of cost alternatives were given and, as well, that no consideration of in-sourcing versus the ASP approach were given.  And, as well -- I did look at his evidence, as well, because, in a number of other areas, I recall that he had mentioned certain cost elements that -- I don't think anyone at this table would agree, but certain cost elements that he thought might not have been included in the first cost assessment. 

     So one of the things with our recommendations -- in terms of updating the business cases, it gives at least two of those considerations.  One is a consideration of the cost alternative, and then a consideration of the ASP approach, as opposed to potentially in-sourcing in-house.  But I did read -- you're right, I did read Mr. Stephens' evidence in that regard.  

     MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me, Mr. Bruce, if the consideration -- “we indicated and determined”.   That's a past tense:  "we indicated and determined".  Can you tell me, sir, where it is you indicated that a traditional cost-benchmark approach was not appropriate for evaluating the EnVision project, we focused more on value?  Can you tell me where it is in the record I would find that you indicated that to anybody? 

     MR. BRUCE:  I'm not sure it is explicitly referenced in that way in our documentation. 

     MR. WARREN:  Would you disagree with me, sir, that the very first time I can find a reference to it, before 3 o'clock yesterday afternoon, was in exhibit K2.4? 

     MR. BRUCE:  Exhibit K2? 

     MR. CASS:  Maybe somebody might just help the witness with what K2.4 is. 

     MR. WARREN:  Yes.  I apologize.  Since it was your document, I assumed you knew.  It was the HLB Decision Economic exhibit that was filed the other day.


MR. BRUCE:  Oh, sorry.  Do you have an extra copy?  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  If I look under "HLB Project", in the middle of the first page, second paragraph?


MR. BRUCE:  Yes.  Yes, sir.

MR. WARREN:  "However, because of the significant business transformation component of the EnVision project, the stand‑alone cost benchmarking approach was determined to be inappropriate for benchmarking EnVision."


That, sir, is the first time I can find any record of your imposing that limitation on what you were doing.  Do you disagree with me on that, sir?


MR. BRUCE:  I don't.  That may be explicitly the first time that has been stated, but it is clear from the criteria that we established that that was our take on the assignment.


MR. WARREN:  But would you not agree with me, sir, that focussing on value as opposed to assessing and comparing costs is inconsistent with the concerns that were expressed by Mr. Stephens?


MR. BRUCE:  Mr. Stephens' concerns ‑‑ I mean, the value equation does include the difference in the costs of the ASP solution versus what Enbridge or any other entity would have done in the alternative, so I don't believe they're totally divorced.


MR. WARREN:  Did you ever consider picking up the phone and talking to Mr. Stephens and telling him, This is what we think we can do with this project.  Is this consistent with your concerns?  Did you ever think of doing that?


MR. BRUCE:  No, I did not.


MR. WARREN:  Do you have, sir, other than the HL ‑‑ other than the response to this RFP, do you have any other ‑‑ are you doing any other work for Enbridge?


MR. BRUCE:  Well, we did the benefits realization plan.


MR. WARREN:  Other than that, are you doing any work for them?


MR. BRUCE:  Obviously this engagement, and not currently.  We had done some work early ‑‑ part of our recommendations of the benefits realization plan was to update the business case, and so we did start an engagement with them to actually update the business case.  But I don't ‑‑ there is nothing currently.


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me what the nature of the engagement was to update the business case?


MR. BRUCE:  It was to start the process for updating the business case for evaluating the costs and benefits of EnVision.


MR. WARREN:  So may I take it that -- would it be fair for me to say, in describing at a broad level of generality that retainer, is that you were working with Enbridge to -- on a retainer for Enbridge to fulfil one of the objectives of the EnVision project; is that fair?


MR. BRUCE:  Sorry, I didn't understand your question.


MR. WARREN:  Well, let me put it more bluntly. 


MR. BRUCE:  Sure.


MR. WARREN:  In accepting that retainer, had you not moved from being an independent consultant in response to the ADR agreement to being a consultant for Enbridge in respect to the EnVision project?


MS. McCOWAN:  In fact, we stopped that, because we needed to focus our energies ‑‑ it was early in the New Year, that we wanted to make sure that we had HLB's assistance in implementing the recommendations.  But we stopped it because we did need to focus our energies, as we spoke about earlier, on getting the business back on the steady state.


MR. BRUCE:  Maybe you could check the dates, but --


MS. McCOWAN:  Sure.


MR. BRUCE:  -- it was my recall that we had submitted essentially what was working paper number 2, which was our recommendations, prior to starting to look at the business case with Enbridge, but that can be checked.


MS. HOLDER:  Sorry, can I interject here?  I really do want to go back to the ADR agreement, which I was part of the negotiations, as well as your client, Mr. Warren, and all other intervenors.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Ms. Holder, is this in response to a question which I have asked?


MS. HOLDER:  I think it is, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Well, can you tell me what question that I asked that this commentary is in response to?


MS. HOLDER:  You have been talking to me, as well as other panel members here, with respect to:  Why didn't we consult with your client or other intervenors on what it is that they were expecting?  And, in all fairness, we do believe we lived up to our agreement in the ADR.  It says:  

"The terms of the reference for the consultants' review will be developed jointly with intervenors."  


We did do that and we -- you know, it took more than just a short period of time.  As a matter of fact, we even delayed releasing the RFP in order to get the comments from intervenors.


Then it says:  

"The results of the review will be provided in EGD's next rate proceeding."  


So I really apologize if I didn't read into that it meant that we were supposed to take all intervenors through every step of that review.  We did take that literally, if you want to be involved in establishing the terms of reference.  We did that.  We then sent out the RFP.  We did our piece of the work, and now we have the evidence before you, as we committed to.


And as I said, we never, ever gave direction that would bias their results towards Enbridge.  They were independent from Enbridge and were providing their own views on the project.


MR. WARREN:  But in the passage which I have quoted, when they responded to the RFP, they said their sense of what you ‑‑ your objective was:  was a value assessment as opposed to a cost assessment.  Did that not twig a concern on the part of Enbridge, that maybe they were skewing their analysis to your view of the universe as opposed to the intervenors' view of the universe?  Did that not concern you?


MS. HOLDER:  No, it did not, and I think the reason being is they were using words that were right out of the ADR agreement.


MR. WARREN:  Now, Ms. Holder, in the context of your comment to me just now, that it was not Enbridge's understanding that they had to go back to the intervenors at every step of the way -- that is what you said to me; is that correct?


MS. HOLDER:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  In your pre-filed evidence in this case, Exhibit A6, tab 5, schedule 4, page 2, it says:  

"Included in the criteria for the selection of a consultant is 'evidence that what the consultant proposes to prepare will meet intervenor expectations'."


Now, how were you to know if it met intervenor expectations if you didn't go and ask the intervenors?


MS. HOLDER:  We did when we sent out the RFP, through the terms of reference.


MR. WARREN:  My final question, Mr. Bruce, is:  After all of this, in terms of the cost analysis that you undertook ‑ and I'm going to take you back, my apologies, to your working paper number 2, appendix E - that your comparison of costs consisted of ‑‑ I'm rushing, because I want to get Mr. Thompson to buy me a beer on this bet.


MS. HOLDER:  Much longer and I get mine.


MR. WARREN:  Just to crystallize it, your analysis of costs consisted of comparing Enbridge's fee schedule ‑‑ sorry, the fee schedule of Accenture to a schedule of fees that was set up by the Government of California for the response to certain IT projects.  That's what it consisted of; is that right?


MR. BRUCE:  Yes, that's right.  Again, as I said, it was a minor component of the analysis that we took, because we were focussed on a value assessment of this, but it was just ‑‑ sorry, no.  It wasn't specifically the Accenture fees with respect to this engagement.  It was just a scan of the marketplace from publicly available information.


MR. WARREN:  And what you came up with was one set of data from California that listed consultants' fees for IT projects; that's it?


MR. BRUCE:  That's correct, because their analysis was based on value.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much, panel members, and I apologize for going much longer than I thought I would.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Why don't we take our afternoon break now, and then proceed with Mr. Thompson?  We will break for 15 minutes, and that will get us back at 20 to 3:00.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 2:25 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:40 p.m.    

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

     Before Mr. Thompson begins, we met with staff and discussed the schedule at break.  And given that the risk-management panel, if they began tomorrow and didn't complete, would have to finish on Tuesday; is that right, Mr. Cass? 

     MR. CASS:  Yes, it is. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Because Monday we have another panel coming in.  And given that it’s likely that the rate-300 panel would get a very, very, brief time tomorrow, we would suggest we don't go ahead with the rate-300 panel tomorrow, and defer that until Tuesday, assuming that Monday's panel is complete.  Does anyone have any objection to that? 

     MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair --  

     MS. NOWINA:  Now, that said, we really hope we can still finish this issue today, and go on to risk management and complete that tomorrow.  

     With that, Mr. Thompson?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  

     Just by way of a preliminary, I did place on the dais excerpts from three decisions that have been referenced in Mr. Warren's cross-examination.  I may take the Panel to a few sections of these decisions, but I thought it would be helpful to have them marked as an exhibits.  

     The first one is the RP-1999-0001 (Phase 1) decision, December 16, 1999.  And that deals with the CIS System decision, and the company's proposal, then, to transfer all of the value of the CIS excluded from rate base to the -- to an affiliate.  Could I have a number for that, please? 

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be K4.2.  That will be characterized as Customer Information Systems from RP-1999- 0001.  

EXHIBIT NO. K4.2:  CUSTOMER INFORMATION SYSTEMS FROM DECISION IN RP-1999-0001 (PHASE 1), DATED DECEMBER 16, 1999

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you. 

     The second excerpt is from the RP-2001-0032 decision, dated December 13, 2002.  And this is the decision pertaining to DPWAMS.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  And that will get the exhibit number of K4.3.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

     MR. BATTISTA:  It will be characterized as -- sorry, which item was it? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  It’s the excerpt from RP-2001-0032, Re DPWAMS. 

     MR. BATTISTA:  Regarding DPWAMS and Asset Management Solutions. 


EXHIBIT NO. K4.3:  EXCERPT OF DECISION IN

RP-2001-0032, RE DPWAMS AND ASSET MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS, DATED DECEMBER 13, 2002
     MR. THOMPSON:  And then the third is the excerpt from the RP-2002-0133 decision, November 7, 2003.  And that is with respect to the WAMS proposal.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be given exhibit number 4.4.

EXHIBIT NO. K4.4:  EXCERPT FROM DECISION IN

RP-2002-0133, RE THE WAMS PROPOPSAL, DATED

NOVEMBER 7, 2003
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, very much.  

     MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, if I might just make a comment at this point?  It’s certainly not my intention to prolong the day any further by arguing about these documents.  I just wanted to make the observation that I think, in the past, the Board has tried to have a 24-hour rule, so that when documents are going to be put to witnesses that come from outside the record before the Board, the witnesses have a little bit of advance warning.  

     I assume, since Mr. Thompson is putting these on the record, he’ll have some questions for the witnesses.  I know they’ll do their very best to answer.  If I might just ask that, from this point on, if we could all do our best to meet the 24-hour rule.  I'm sure that will help the evidence to move more expeditiously.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, my apologies.  I did take this down to Enbridge staff at the lunch hour, and told them to distribute it to Mr. Hoey and the panel.  So there was not 24 hours, but there was some time.  And, as I say, I don't intend to dwell on those, and I'm not going to start with them.  So they can just set them aside for now.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:

     And what I’d like to do, panel -- I have, sort of, four subject-matter areas that I wanted to cover.  I expect it will be about an hour.  But before I get into them, I just wanted to pick up on a couple of points that Mr. Warren was making at the end of his cross-examination.  

     Dealing, first of all, with you, Mr. Bruce, and HLB's relationship with Accenture.  Mr. Warren had drawn your attention to Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 177, attachment 1, in the “Conflicts of Interest” section.  

     Do you recall that? 

     MR. BRUCE:  I recall it, yes, sir.    

     MR. THOMPSON:  And in that, you note that you had been contracted by Accenture in 2002 for a certain matter; is that correct? 

     MR. BRUCE:  Sorry.  Just let me find that reference, sir.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  It's the last bullet point on the page. 

     And I have to apologize, because the Board Panel doesn't have this, as they are reading from my book.  So -- 

     MR. BRUCE:  This is in the benchmarking proposal, sir? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct, page 12.  

     MR. BRUCE:  Go ahead.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And you indicate there that your relationship with Accenture dated back to 2002.  That's in the third bullet point.  You had a contract with Accenture.  

     MR. BRUCE:  Yes.  I’d say HLB was contracted by Accenture in 2002 -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

     MR. BRUCE:  -- to act as a third party. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then, in the first part of the paragraph, though, you indicate that you were currently working as an independent third party between Accenture's US Division and the US Department of Homeland Security.  That's when you submitted the proposal.  

     MR. BRUCE:  That's correct.  Our US office is currently working with Accenture US in the States.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And do you continue to have relationships with Accenture, apart from what you've described in this proposal? 

     MR. BRUCE:  The relationships we've described in this proposal -- yes, sir, we’re -- HLB has been contracted with Accenture as an independent third party.  Obviously, that's what’s there.  And since this proposal, in -- for our US office, we have done some business-case engagements with Accenture in the US.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So is it fair to say the relationship between HLB and Accenture dates back to 2002, and is ongoing? 

     MR. BRUCE:  The relationship with -- I mean, how do we define relationship, sir?  I mean, we've been -- over the years, acted as third party, hired to be involved in situations where Accenture is on a deal and there is a government agency on a deal.   And so, in the example I gave you with MCSS, sir - just to be totally transparent, which is our intent here - I mean, that engagement happened -- I'm not sure of the exact dates, but it would have preceded 2002.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right. Well I define that as a relationship with Accenture.  Is it fair to say your relationship with Accenture dates back to - I think you're telling me - prior to 2002, and is ongoing?  

     MR. BRUCE:  We have acted as third party in contracts whereby we've been third party and there has been two other parties involved, and Accenture has been one of those parties.  Yes, I'm not sure of the exact date, but it would have been since the late ‘90s.  And currently our US office is doing some work with Accenture US.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  

     Now, Mr. Warren referred you to Exhibit K2.4, which was this sort of supplement to experience that was filed earlier this week.  

     MR. BRUCE:  Yes, sir.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And he referred you to the paragraph in that document where you used the phrase "the stand-alone cost-benchmarking approach". 

     MR. BRUCE:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  You have now read Mr. Stephens' evidence in the last case? 

     MR. BRUCE:  That's correct.  






     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And you've -- have you also read his evidence in this case? 

     MR. BRUCE:  Yes, I have.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And what Mr. Stephens describes, in his evidence, he refers to as a “comprehensive benchmark approach.”   Do you recall that? 

     MR. BRUCE:  I recall that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Is the approach Mr. Stephens is describing in his testimony and the “stand-alone cost-benchmarking approach” that you are referring to, in substance, the same type of approach? 

     MR. BRUCE:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so, in this document, you're telling us the stand-alone cost-benchmarking approach was determined to be inappropriate.  

     MR. BRUCE:  That's correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

     MR. BRUCE:  This was a value-based deal. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And you determined that? 

     MR. BRUCE:  HLB determined that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, coming -- and you determined that - when? - before you submitted your proposal? 

     MR. BRUCE:  Based on our RFP response, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So you had determined that their approach was inappropriate by the time you submitted your proposal.  

     Now, coming to intervenor expectations.  I think you indicated to Mr. Warren you didn't make any enquiries of intervenor expectations, but I may have misunderstood you.


MR. BRUCE:  No, sir.  If I may, we were brought in to be an independent consultant looking at this particular matter.  It was not my ‑‑ we were contracted by Enbridge.  It was not my understanding that, in this reference, that independent meant that we had to engage every party involved in those other proceedings.


My understanding was that meaning independent meant we would look at the issues at hand and, based on our own examination of the materials, make our recommendations.  I didn't ‑‑ it never occurred to me that I had to engage other parties


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I wasn't suggesting you had to phone up everybody that was on the other side, but what I am suggesting is you might have considered making some enquiries even of Enbridge of intervenor expectations.


Did you make enquiries of Enbridge of intervenor expectations?


MR. BRUCE:  Enbridge provided me, for example, Mr. Stephens' evidence.  I don't know I explicitly went back to Enbridge and asked them to layout the intervenor expectations.


MS. McCOWAN:  Our understanding of intervenor expectations are embodied in the settlement agreement and in the request for proposal.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's just go to that, then, Ms. McCowan.  Let's look at the settlement agreement, which is tab 3 in Mr. Warren's book.  And some care was taken in trying to draft this agreement, because this EnVision project was something new.  It was a $136 million deal.  But intervenors accepted that you needed to replace your Legacy systems, but they were very concerned about the costs of all of this and the benefits.  And that's all laid out in the introductory portion of the agreement; would you agree?


MS. McCOWAN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then we get to the body of the agreement, and let's just take it sentence by sentence:

"The company will retain an independent consultant."


Just stopping there, what does the word "independent" mean to Enbridge?


MS. HOLDER:  I think our definition of "independent" is they have no affiliation with Enbridge or affiliation with Accenture, and our understanding and belief was is that HBF does not have ‑‑ HLB, sorry.  I watch too much television.  HLB is not affiliated with Enbridge nor Accenture.


MR. THOMPSON:  You use the word "affiliated" in some sort of ownership relationship; is that right?


MS. HOLDER:  Yes, or partnership relationship.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So "cozy" wouldn't fall into your definition of independent?


MS. McCOWAN:  The point is they have no interest in showing Accenture or Enbridge to have done something.  They're there to be a fair and independent party.


MR. THOMPSON:  And ‑‑


MR. BRUCE:  And we continue to be contracted by other parties, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  You're like lawyers; you work for everybody.  You're always independent.  


And to assess ‑‑ just moving on:

"Independent consultant to assess the overall project costs to determine whether the fee levels and fee structure with Accenture are appropriate to the services and value being provided."


Just stopping there, the fee levels and fee structure was spelled out in the contract; right?  Would somebody answer that?  Yes?  You have ‑‑ you can't nod.


MS. HOLDER:  Sorry.


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  They were spelled out in tranches for various types of services.  There was WAMS implementation, WAMS operations, FFT implementation, FFT operations, and then some other stuff; correct?


MS. HOLDER:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's all in the contract.  It's a schedule to the agreement that is yet to come; correct?


MS. HOLDER:  Yes, yet to come in this case.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And the second sentence then goes on:

"In the context of this review, the consultant will benchmark the services and costs described in the services agreement between Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. and Accenture Inc."


Stopping there, were done on a segmented basis, correct, in the agreement? 


MS. McCOWAN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  "Against the market", what does the phrase "against the market" mean to Enbridge?


MS. HOLDER:  I think in this context, it means, where there is a public information about these services in the market, that's what we were comparing it to.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, did Enbridge understand that the intervenors were expecting a segmented analysis of the costs and the services agreement tied to the schedule in the services agreement against the market to help them ascertain whether these were fair market value charges?


MS. HOLDER:  No.  This contract was bid as an entire contract.  It was negotiated as an entire contract.  We have been saying all along you have to look at all aspects of the contract, the costs, the benefits, all of the other value that comes into this contract, as well.


To be frank with you, I would suspect if that level of detail was so important to the intervenors, it would have been included in this ADR agreement.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, Mr. Stephens' evidence at tab 2 of Mr. Warren's book discusses, starting at page 48 of the book in the top right-hand corner, the process used to select the vendors, findings, questions about the costs being reasonable.


It was obvious to anyone who read that, I suggest, that the concern was, because it was a package deal, it had to be analyzed carefully on a segregated basis.


MS. HOLDER:  I think we're starting to take evidence in a hearing that we actually settled through ADR.  And I think what would be appropriate, in my memory, for what was being asked of us was what we agreed to in ADR.


I did not, at any point in time, look into the evidence provided either by ourselves nor by any other intervenors to determine what I thought had been decided through a negotiation process with the intervenors, and that's the ADR.  We worked from the ADR.


MR. THOMPSON:  But you did write to Mr. Warren and ask him what the intervenors' expectations were.  


MS. HOLDER:  Yes, and we incorporated those expectations into the terms of reference for the RFP.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I don't know that HLB got that message, because if you go to Mr. Warren's correspondence, which he mentioned this morning, and I think it is in response to 175.


I'll just have to get my finger on it here.  There's so much paper.  The first letter that Mr. Warren drew your attention to this morning was at page 1 of 55; right?


MS. HOLDER:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And he enclosed in that letter some suggestions to be incorporated into the RFP; right?  And as an appendix A, he makes, as suggestions for the overall approach:

"Define what your company considers to be FMV generally and with respect to IT and ASP services.  Briefly describe the overall approach your company uses for IT and ASP price benchmarking.  Describe how your ..."


This is item 3:

"... approach provides an accurate estimate of the FMV of outsourced IT and ASP services."  


And so on.  Surely when you read that letter, you concluded that intervenors were expecting an analysis that would address this issue of FMV?
     MR. THOMPSON:  Can it be read any other way, Ms. Holder? 

     MS. HOLDER:  Sorry, I -- I'm looking for a document.  Excuse me for a moment, please.  

     Okay.  I was aware of a document that I thought could help us out.  And I'm not as familiar with this evidence as I, historically, would have been and, as a result, can't find it.  

     So I -- I think it goes back to the RFP, where the intervenors did review the RFP, the terms of reference, including a list of appendices that we would attach to that RFP.  In that list of appendices, we never did include Mr. Stephens' evidence.  And I would have thought, had that been so important to the intervenors, it would have been raised, to say, Why are you not including -- or, Why should you not include Mr. Stephens' evidence?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, maybe we're not as quick as we should have been, but the bottom line -- it isn't included, but that’s not a response to my question.  

     The expectations of intervenors -- you did ask, before you sent out your RFP, and Mr. Warren responded on September 21st of 2004, expressing them clearly in the context of a fair market value issue.  That's what he says.  

     MS. HOLDER:  You’re correct, that's what he said.  And I believe there was exchange of e-mails - and, I suspect, potentially, even phone calls - between Ms. Hare and Mr. Warren.   And I believe they came to an agreement on what would be included in the RFP, which is what has been filed here.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it's clear you haven't read this

evidence.  Because, if you go to the last page under this 

same document, the last word in the communications, before 

Ms. Hare sends out what she sent out, is another letter from Mr. Warren:

“We appreciate your willingness to revise the RFP based on our comments in the letter of September 21, 2004.”  

     And then he goes on, he describes some suggestions.  And, in the second sentence, the last paragraph:   

“We expect the use of specific benchmarking processes to develop a fair market value range, plus or minus 5 - 10 percent from an available market price database of applicable services.”  

No one could possibly misunderstand that sentence;

correct? 

     MS. HOLDER:  I'm not disagreeing with you -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay. 

     MS. HOLDER:  -- what I'm saying, though, is that the process proceeded as outlined in the ADR.  We established with intervenors the final RFP, which was sent out, and we had various responses.  We chose our contractor -- or, our consultant.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  You knew what the intervenor expectations were from this exchange of correspondence from Mr. Warren.  You sent out the RFP.  Your evaluation criteria were to have someone who would respond to intervenor expectations.  

     Mr. Warren’s been through all that.  

     Let’s just look at the last sentence, in terms of this letter, indicating what we didn't expect:

“What we do not expect is the use of more general consulting processes to conduct a market assessment in order to build a price database of applicable services from the selected participants, and then to compare that market-assessment pricing in -- to that in the agreement between the EGD and Accenture.  We are comfortable with a benchmarking consultant -- 

we are comfortable that a benchmarking consultant can provide an estimate of fair market value of all of the applicable services  in the agreement between EGD and Accenture.” 

     That was the expectation; correct? 

     MS. HOLDER:  Again, I have to come back to the negotiations, and what my understanding of the negotiations I went through with all the intervenors.  And I think we lived up to those expectations in that agreement.  

     We did canvass intervenors, and ask them what they wanted to include.  Where we could, we did incorporate their comments.  But it’s like writing a letter by committee.  You cannot -- we have to manage our business.  This is our business to manage.  We do a very good job of managing our business, frankly.  And at the end of the day, we have to make a call.  We have to say, It's time to move on.  We cannot run our business by, every decision we make, go back to the intervenors and say:  Is this okay?  Here is a document:  Is this okay?  Or, here’s the next step of this document: Is this okay?  

     We made a decision.  I recognize you -- or, your client does not see that that decision adequately reflects what your expectations were, but at the time the decisions that were made reflected what I believed were the right decisions.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Bruce, did -- at any time, did Enbridge tell you that intervenors' expectations were as described in Mr. Warren's correspondence? 

     MR. BRUCE:  I didn't see Mr. Warren's correspondence.    

     MR. THOMPSON:  So they didn't tell you?  They didn't

-- those expectations in those terms? 

     MR. BRUCE:  Not that I can recall.  

     MS. HOLDER:  I -- I don’t think --

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so we, obviously, say Enbridge made a commitment in this contract to provide to meet those expectations.  But the bottom line, Mr. Bruce, is, what you have done does not meet those commitments, assuming that’s what they were.  

     And I would ask you to just confirm that by looking at IGUA Interrogatory 47, Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 47.  

     MS. McCOWAN:  Can I just say for the record that yesterday, in our examination in-chief, I indicated that we, Enbridge, believed that we did meet the commitments made, and Mr. Bruce indicated that he believes that the commitment was met by the report they provided. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I put it to you, on the assumption they are as described in Mr. Warren's letter, you didn't meet them.  

     MS. McCOWAN:  The commitment we are meeting is that outlined in the settlement agreement.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we say this is what the settlement agreement means. 

      But in any event, just to close this off, in this interrogatory, we referenced appendix E of the “Cost Benchmark Assessment” that Mr. Warren has taken you through.  

     And we asked:

“How does this database assist in developing a fair market value range for the operations of WAMS and FTT over ten years?  And please explain how this database qualifies as a specific benchmarking exercise with respect to the determination of a fair market value range for these operations services.”  

     You go on and provide your answer.  But the bottom line indicates, really, you didn't do a fair market value assessment.  The data was not utilized to develop fair market values; correct, Mr. Bruce? 

     MR. BRUCE:  That's correct.  We looked at the value of the EnVision contract from a pure value perspective to the ratepayer.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So, if the Board finds that that was the commitment the company make -- made, i.e., to do this assessment on a tranche basis, against the contract, and against -- tranche basis specified in the contract, against the market -- the Board finds that that was the commitment made by Enbridge, Enbridge has not fulfilled that commitment; correct?


MS. HOLDER:  That is correct, but I would be surprised if this Board could find that we made a commitment that that's what we were going to do.  We made -- I was part of the negotiations.  I was part of this language.  I never, ever committed that we would do a fair market value analysis, and, therefore, that language is not in the ADR agreement.  


The ADR agreement is what we agreed to, and that's what all the intervenors put down on paper.  The language does not refer to fair market value.  It talks about value being provided.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I will move on.


MR. CHIOTTI:  Madam Chair, I would just like to add to Ms. Holder's comments.


As we mentioned in our evidence in‑chief, as well, one of the specific requests we had was to add some additional firms to the bid list; namely, Gartner Group and Compass.  And as I indicated, Gartner Group declined to respond to the RFP, and when Compass did respond, they indicated clearly that they could not respond to the full scope of the RFP.


I think that is relevant to this discussion.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the agreement is there.  I think we can argue what it means.  We've got the evidence on these topics.


Just to close it off, Mr. Bruce, whether you could have done ‑‑ whether you have the qualifications to do the type of benchmarking analysis that Mr. Stephens talks about in his evidence - he calls it comprehensive, you call it stand‑alone something or other ‑ whether or not you have them or not, the bottom line is you didn't do it in this case?


MR. BRUCE:  No.  I didn't feel it was appropriate.  If I had, we would have pursued another angle.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let me move on, then, to the next topic - I just want to cover quickly, if I can - is what I call the dollars piece.  And there have been a number of undertakings given here, but I just want to try and, if I can, get this nailed down hopefully in one comprehensive document.


As the ADR agreement points out, the EnVision project was ‑- had a total cost over, I think it is, ten years of $136 million; correct?


MR. CHIOTTI:  I think we discussed the source of that number, and we corrected that to $123 million.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, all right.  Let's start then with ‑‑ turn up Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 113.   Do you see that?


This interrogatory response suggests that the project has an Accenture piece and another piece, correct, the other piece being items that get closed to account 490, general plant?


MR. CHIOTTI:  I'm sorry, Mr. Warren (sic), one of the reasons why I had difficulty putting my hands on this is this is not an IR that I personally completed, so ...


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, at a conceptual level, is there an in-house and out-house piece of the ‑ excuse my language ‑ associated with the Accenture project -- associated with the EnVision project?


MR. CHIOTTI:  There is an in-house and out-house piece, in terms of, you know, we had business resources involved in the initiative, and so on, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And both pieces are accounted for as part of the project?


MR. CHIOTTI:  As we stated in our evidence dating back to the 2005 case, there was amounts involved with respect to field devices that were included in the IT budget, but were not included in the business case for EnVision.  


The reason for that was that those amounts had been in the IT budget for a number of years, with the expectation of replacing the existing field devices that we had.  There was every expectation we were going to do that.  In fact, there was an expectation we were going to do that, I believe, in 2003.


We held off doing that because of EnVision and because we were looking at the field force transformation component of it.  That was not an incremental amount, and we did not include it in the EnVision business case, and that was stated clearly in our evidence.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So the EnVision business case is based solely on the Accenture arrangement?


MR. CHIOTTI:  No, it is not.  It is based on the Accenture arrangement.  It is based on business resources that we've had involved in the project.  It identifies incremental costs, such as the expectation of wireless charges, and that's in the evidence under IT/O&M costs, and so on.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, help me, Mr. Chiotti.  The Accenture part of it we know was initially a total cost of $123 million?


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Is there another part of the project and, if so, what was its initial cost forecast to be?


MR. CHIOTTI:  There is not another part of the project.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So let's talk about, then, the $123 million.  The evidence is, as I understand it, that you have now issued some change orders; right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Over the course of the development of the work and asset management component of the project, yes, we issued some change orders.


MR. THOMPSON:  So what is now the total cost for the project expected to be?


MR. CHIOTTI:  If you refer to the evidence, Exhibit A6, tab 5, schedule 2, page 3, table 1, as we've indicated, comparing 2004 budget to 2004 actuals, Accenture fees have gone from 18.5 million to 21.8.  Business resources have gone from 1.4 to 2.1, but, as we stated, a portion of that is not incremental, because it involved seconding existing staff in the company. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Can I interrupt you?  I'm just trying to get what is the number now instead of 123, the total project cost.


MR. CHIOTTI:  Okay.  I don't have a calculator in front of me.  You take the difference of 21.8 and 18.5 and you add it to 123, and that is the Accenture portion of the cost now.


MR. THOMPSON:  So these changes ‑‑ the change orders that were issued didn't affect costs beyond the particular year in which the change order applied?  Yes or no?  One person nods.


MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So when you make a change order for 100,000, that doesn't mean 100,000 each and every year thereafter on that item.  It is just a one‑year addition; am I right?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Generally speaking, I could ‑‑ I can contemplate that there might be some kind of change that might affect something that spans the full length of the contract, but I haven't seen such a change order.


MR. THOMPSON:  So assuming the overruns are about $4 million, then we're looking at a total of about $127 million, big picture?


MR. CHIOTTI:  I guess that's close.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Thanks.  Now, in terms of ‑‑ this is what I think might be helpful in terms of these numbers.  You've explained to Mr. Warren that the numbers are accounted for by the segments in the service agreement, and I think you have undertaken to actually spread out the numbers by those segments.


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So what I would like to suggest that you consider is this, is that you start with 2004 costs, the budget and then the actual.  And my understanding is that in the budget amounts you'll have -- WAMS implementation will be one line, or sub-line; WAMS OPs, another; FTT implementation -- FFT implementation – FFT OPs -- and maybe one or more other lines.   Do I understand that is what we're to expect? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So we have that for budget.  And then for actuals, there’ll be -- in 2004, there’ll be some overrun amounts.  Correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  There will be some additional amounts, yes.        

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I call those overruns, not to be pejorative.  

     And could you break the overruns down, between delay and, then, each of the other sub-categories.  So we'd have a little box where we could see what those overrun amounts were, in terms of their classification.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  I did do that in the evidence in my variance explanations in table 2.  Are you suggesting that you are -- that that’s -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I'm trying to see it sub-categorized by these WAMS implementation, WAMS OPs, FFT implementation, FF OPs, so we can see the segments of the costs by category.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Fair enough.  I can tell you right now that all of the additional costs resulting from change orders are associated with the work-and-asset-management implementation component of EnVision, so they will all appear under that stream.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But in your response to one of the interrogatories, you classified Mr. Warren's 1.95 million of this as delay-related.  And then you have other variance explanations of the difference between actual and budget.  Do you recall that interrogatory? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I think what you're telling me is that delay-related will show up in the WAMS implementation.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  As will the other items in the -- in table 2 in my evidence. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Will the delay-related be identified as delay-related?  Or it’ll just be rolled-in. 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  I will make sure I identify it, just as I have identified it in my evidence.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Fine.  And so then you have that for 2004.  You could do the same thing for 2005, i.e., budget by these categories, actual by these categories, separately segmenting the -- what I call the “overrun” piece.  Are you with me, so far? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Just let me be certain.  When you speak to actuals, obviously, it would be actuals to date, because we're not at the end of --   

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right. 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  -- 2005.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Fine.  Then make it a 2005 budget, 2005 estimate.  Can you do that?

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so, for each of these segments -- and so we could see, then, what the -- well, let me ask you this:  what is the forecast closing rate base, currently, for 2005?  The Accenture-related rate base? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  We’re -- we’ve taken an undertaking to provide that information, and we will.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then, for 2006, you have budget, again, in each of these sub-categories.  Correct?  You could present that for us? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so, at the end of the day, if the argument of intervenors is you should not recover any costs associated with WAMS implementation -- or, say, WAMS operations, because of failure to meet commitments, we could identify from that schedule what the rate base impacts would be for opening 2006, and take it through to closing, 2006.  What intervenors are looking for is a document that will enable us to get the numbers right.  

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes.  Sorry.  You could do that.  I would want to make one comment, and it's a comment I’ve made many times in the past.  If we were to remove costs out of the budget, that, in turn, would suggest you should remove benefits.  Because these costs have been incurred in order to benefit ratepayers, and all those benefits are being -- are flowed, through rates, to ratepayers.  If there are going to be cost disallowances, then, that actually have benefited ratepayers, then those benefits should not be accrued to ratepayers.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Well, I don't want to make the argument now.   I just want to make sure we have a spreadsheet that will make -- when we do make it, if we make it, we've got the numbers right.   

     So when you're doing these responses to the cost side of the equation, could you consider that kind of a spreadsheet as a, if you will, “supplement”, or an additional undertaking?

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Mr. Thompson, I've tried to listen to what you're asking, as well, and if I can just sort of summarize, to see if we're on the same page.  

     For 2004, 2005, and 2006 -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  -- you would like us to show a breakdown of the variance against budget for those Accenture costs, and then break down that variance by various categories, one of the categories being the different elements of the contract, and another breakdown being the drivers behind that variance, drivers such as delays.  And if there are other categories that we can come up with, that would help the intervenors understand the drivers behind those change in costs.  Is that correct? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I think that would be helpful, yes.  

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Okay.  We can do that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Just with the addition that the budget will also be broken down between the -- 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Right.  So you have a comparison. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So we’ll know what we started with, what the add-ons are, by various categories.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Great.  Thanks.  And then -- let me then just -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  On that piece of undertaking, do you just want to tack it on to the previous J4.3?  Or do you want a stand-alone undertaking, so we can track it appropriately? 

     MS. McCOWAN:  Okay.  So I have them misnumbered.  So you had wanted, previously, to show the FFT fees as they will be booked to rate base in 2005?  

 
UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Just do a separate one.  

     MS. McCOWAN:  Just a separate one?   Okay.

 
UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Well, we’d like a separate one.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  So we’ll call that one J4.5, and we could call it “EnVision subcategory break-out and variances for 2004, 2005 and 2006.” 

UNDERTAKING NO J4.5:  TO PREPARE AND PROVIDE ENVISION SUBCATEGORY BREAK-OUT AND VARIANCES FOR 2004, 2005 and 2006

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  

     In terms of O&M expense -- the O&M expense piece of EnVision, in 2004 and 2005, that’s history.  I mean, we don't need to worry about that, that will be absorbed by whomever.  

     But for 2006, it will be ten percent of the budget amount.  Correct? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so, if we want to identify the O&M components of -- the O&M sub-components related to the tranches in the contract, we have the data we need.  Okay.  

     Now, just one other point, in terms of the cost side of this.  This -- these costs are capitalized to mains, and you were discussing that with Mr. Warren.  Do you recall that? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And there’s an interrogatory response - it’s at CCC 191 - where you discuss the rationale for capitalizing it to mains.  But if you would just go back to Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 113, where we have part of the EnVision IT asset classified to general plant, and then part -- the Accenture part classified to mains.  Do you see that, on page 2 of that exhibit?  Is this Mr. Ladanyi’s exhibit, by any chance? 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  -- very low -- yes. 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Yes.

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Is it Mr. Ladanyi’s?  All right. 

     Yes, I apologize.  That's why I'm having difficulty speaking rapidly to this exhibit.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Let me just put it to you this way, panel.  When you -- perhaps you can just take this, subject to check.  When the DPWAMS proposition was on the agenda, that was going to be an in-house project.  There was

20-some-odd million over two years, and that was going to be classified as IT capital.  Would you take that subject to check?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And if it's classified as IT capital, according to this exhibit it would be amortized over five years; correct.


MR. CHIOTTI:  I ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  Approximately?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, I will take that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, when you came forward with EnVision and that project, you pointed out many times it's a monster project, but would you agree that it has a large IT component to it?


MR. CHIOTTI:  It has a large IT application component to it, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so without quibbling about whether it is appropriate or inappropriate, what I would like to see is the impact on ratepayers of the 25-year depreciation applied to this capitalization of the Accenture contract versus the five‑year capitalization and depreciation ‑‑ depreciation, 25-year depreciation versus the five-year depreciation.  Get my drift?


MS. McCOWAN:  Maybe I'm misunderstanding it, so let me just play back to you what we already took an undertaking on this morning, which was to show impact on ratepayers with the three different scenarios.  One was that the costs were entirely O&M, one was they were 50:50 and one was they were in 90:10.  Would that meet your need?  


MR. THOMPSON:  No, it doesn't.  What I'm talking about is capitalizing ‑‑ sorry, I'm talking about depreciating 90 percent of the costs over five years versus 25 years.  What I would like to see -- let's just do it by way of illustration.  You have $100 million.  You depreciate it over 25 years.


What is the return in taxes that ratepayers pay over the life of that asset?  Take the same $100 million you depreciate it over five years.  What's the return in taxes that the ratepayers pay over the five years?


MR. CHIOTTI:  We can do that calculation.  However, it should be understood that although there are IT components to the EnVision initiative, those IT components do not represent assets that Enbridge Gas Distribution owns.


The IT applications are developed by Accenture, and the functionality of those applications are provided to Enbridge Gas Distribution on a fee‑for‑service basis.


Part of those applications are packaged software which are licensed by Accenture on our behalf, and so we do not have an IT asset to capitalize with EnVision.


One of the reasons why the Accenture fees are capitalized on a 90:10 basis and are capitalized to mains is for that very reason.  When we contract with a contractor to put pipe in the ground, the fees that those contractors charge us get capitalized to that pipe in the ground.


The functionality that Accenture is giving us on a fee‑for‑service basis in the form of these applications are directed at the work of putting pipe in the ground on a 90 percent basis, and that's why the fees we're paying to Accenture to provide this capability to us is capitalized to mains, just as the fees that we paid to contractors that are actually doing the work of putting the pipe in the ground are capitalized to those mains.


So, once again, I will say we can do the math for you, but it is two totally different situations.  We do not have an IT asset to capitalize in this situation.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well ‑‑


MS. HOLDER:  Sorry, Mr. Thompson, I think we also need to make sure that we're clear when we respond.  If we were to amortize this, the first five ‑‑ these assets over five years, are you suggesting, then, that the assets are only or this contract is only a value for five years?  


My point being is that Accenture is responsible to provide services for ten years.  In that they have to replace hardware or in that they have to replace software, to provide those services, they have to do that.  We are getting an asset or a service for them for ten years, not for five years.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, just do the calculation and I will then argue later.  I'm trying to get through this panel before --


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give that undertaking J4.6, and we will characterize that as depreciation comparison ratepayer impact.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.6:  DEPRECIATION COMPARISON RATEPAYER IMPACT

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it's return on taxes in the two scenarios, the five-year depreciation versus the 25‑year depreciation scenario, okay?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, just quickly a couple of points on the history, and I just want ‑‑ this brings me back to the three documents that we marked at the outset.  First of all, the decision in RP-1999‑0001, you've already described what happened there to Mr. Warren.  There are just a couple of points I wanted to confirm.


In the Board's decision in this case ‑ and I think you mentioned this to Mr. Warren ‑ the Board disallowed $19.5 million of closure to rate base.  You will see that at page 37 in paragraph 4.4.2(8).  Would you take that, subject to check?


MS. HOLDER:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And my understanding of what you said to Mr. Warren was that that $19.5 million didn't become stranded.  It simply got added to the value of what was transferred to the affiliate.  Did I understand that correctly?


MS. HOLDER:  I believe what we were talking to Mr. Warren wasn't specific to the CIS application, and I do not believe that is what happened with the CIS application.


I don't believe ‑ and this is subject to check ‑ that we ever closed rate base.


MR. THOMPSON:  The 19.5?


MS. HOLDER:  Any dollars to do with CIS.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  All right.  Well, let's leave it subject to check and you can clarify that if it needs to be clarified.  The other part of this decision that I wanted to draw your attention to is on page 39, paragraph 4.5.5.


This is in relation to CIS, which was transferred to an affiliate, and it contrasts to your arrangement with Accenture, which isn't an affiliate.  But the Board noted in that paragraph: 

"The onus is on the company to establish, by independent, credible evidence, that the fees to be paid to Newco for CIS services are fair market value in relation to the services being provided."


My question is:  Do you agree that that principle applies to the contract with Accenture?  You have an ongoing obligation to demonstrate that those fees are fair market value?


MS. HOLDER:  No, I do not.  I think there is a lot of differences between CIS and our contract with Accenture.


First of all, fair market value may be an appropriate means to evaluate the CIS‑type service, because it is a transactional-type service.  By no means can you compare the contract that we have established with Accenture to a CIS application.  It is not a transaction-based application.  As a matter of fact, the majority of the costs don't even relate to applications.  


So we come back to, it was the value of this contract to ratepayers.


MR. THOMPSON:  So is that something different than fair market value?  Are the fees that you paid to Accenture fair market value or are they higher than fair market value, or do you know?


MS. HOLDER:  I think what I was taking in your statement is you have a definition of fair market value which we had this discussion earlier today.  If that's your interpretation of fair market value, I would say that isn't the approach that we should be taking to evaluate this contract.  

     Do I believe that the contract -- the fees that were paid in this contract fair?  Yes, I went through 18 months of negotiations to get them there.  And I do believe that, through the reasonableness test that we had available at the time, the ongoing negotiations - and the very tough negotiations - that the price that we are paying for these services are more than fair.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, unfortunately, that's not objective, but let me move on. 

     In terms of the next case, this is the DPWAMS case.  This is Exhibit K4.3.  

     And this was at a time when you were attempting to -- this was the $20.3 million project over two years, which you will see referenced in paragraph 2.9.2 at page 18.  Would you take that, subject to check? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And in paragraph 2.9.7, what the Board was faced with, in this case, was the attempt by EGD to, in effect, get a degree of confidence that the costs of the project would be recovered from ratepayers.  Do you see that statement in 2.9.7? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.      

     MR. THOMPSON:  And the Board declined to provide what you were asking for, for the reasons described in paragraphs 2.9.11 and following.  Fair? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And the Board said, in paragraph 2.9.14:

“The Board is not prepared to scrutinize the project, and pre-approve a project, before the company's management is committed to it.”  

     That's what the Board said.  Fair? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes. 

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.   And so the next tact that you took with respect to these multi-year projects - EPWAMS - was, essentially, a capital project -- was in the next case, RP-2002-0133.  And now the project had gone from $20.5 million - you’ll see in paragraph 6.38 of Exhibit K4.4, and over on the -- somewhere, it’s up to $50 million and some odd, by this time.  

     Would you take that, subject to check?  I think that’s in paragraph 6.4.8.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, I see it.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And this deal -- which was WAMS, only; right?   

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  This was the one that was based on the RFP that you had with Accenture in September of 2002, which eventually led to a letter of January 30, 2003.  And you’ll find that referenced in paragraph 6.41.  Would you take that, subject to check? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes, I see that there.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And the way you were trying to get Board -- some confidence in the -- from the Board that costs would be recoverable, was by putting $4.5 million in O&M expenses, being the first year of this contemplated 7-year deal with Accenture.   And you’ll see that referenced in paragraph 6.4.  Would you take that, subject to check? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  No -- it's there.  I see it.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And in that particular case, we had agreed on O&M expenses in an envelope.  So the question of whether the 4.5 was in or out was, essentially, settled.  And the Board reflects that in its findings, which you’ll find at paragraph 676 and 677.  Fair? 

     MR. CHIOTTI:  I'm just reading quickly.  Excuse me.  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So this is the first case where you float this concept of, in effect, accommodating what was formerly a multi-year capital project with this kind of contractual arrangement for services from what I will call a “friendly services-provider.”  Because by that time Accenture was providing customer-care services to EGD.  

     MR. CHIOTTI:  I think we've already stated that the selection of Accenture was based on the RFP process that we went through, and not anything to do with their involvement with customer care.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, but that's really the point I wanted to get nailed down, in terms of the facts.  Accenture took over the resources of CWLP, which were formerly Enbridge resources, in part, on July 1st, 2002.  

     MS. HOLDER:  Thank you for correcting the record for me, because I did mis-speak myself earlier, when I said they were “purchased.”  It was just a transfer of resources.  But you are correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But it was July of 2002, and you can see that in the contract in CCC 192.  That's the contract between CWLP and Accenture.  

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes.  And, earlier today, I did state that that transaction did take place before the RFP process.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And Accenture was -- well, let me ask this:  somebody asked you whether there were any other arrangements between -- I thought it was the Enbridge Group and Accenture.  And I thought Mr. Pleckaitis said "yes".   I think “other arrangements” -- when I asked that question, I mean “other than the CWLP Accenture arrangement.”  

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  I think I said, "No, I was not familiar with any other arrangements".  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, does CWLP, ECSI and/or EI derive revenues from its relationship with Accenture as Accenture expands its customer-care business in North America?  

     MS. HOLDER:  I don't know. 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  I have no idea.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  No idea? 

     MS. HOLDER:  No. 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  No. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  You're both Vice-presidents of -- well, Ms. Holder, are you a Vice-President of Enbridge Inc. now? 

     MS. HOLDER:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And Mr. Pleckaitis, are you -- 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Vice-President with Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, if you turn up CCC No. 46, attachment 3 -- so this is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 46, attachment 3.  

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Mm-hm.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Attachment 3 is the 2004 strategic -- 

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Mr. Thompson -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes?

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  -- this evidence was not presented by this panel.  Are you aware of that? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it's Enbridge Inc.'s strategic plan.  So, if you're not familiar with it, I would be surprised.  

     MR. PLECKAITIS:  Well I'm not familiar -- I'm not, right now, very familiar with the Enbridge Inc.'s strategic plan.  I’ve read parts of this --

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it's for gas distribution and service, so it relates to EGD.  But Ms. Holder, as a senior officer in Enbridge Inc., I would hope, would be familiar with it. 

     MS. HOLDER:  I have read the plan, yes.  I have not seen this presentation.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, if you go to page 15 of attachment 3, which is the 2004 strategic plan, you will see the objectives that are being set out there, 2008 objectives.  And under “Enbridge Commercial Services/Customer-Works” you’ll see -- and this is -- by 2008, Enbridge Gas Distribution will have -- sorry, it's Enbridge Commercial Services and Customer-Works will have received increasing marketing revenues as Accenture continues to increase its customer care business in North America."


MR. CHIOTTI:  We're struggling to find your page reference, Mr. Thompson, I'm sorry.


MR. THOMPSON:  It's page 15, Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 46, attachment 3, page 15 down in the right-hand corner.


MS. HOLDER:  Which bullet are you referring to?


MR. THOMPSON:  Second last one on the page.


MS. HOLDER:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, does that help refresh your memory as to benefits that flow through to Enbridge Commercial Services, CWLP and Enbridge Inc. from the relationship with Accenture?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  First of all, I am not aware of the specifics of those arrangements whatsoever, so I can't add anything else to what you've asked.


MR. THOMPSON:  Are you aware of them, Ms. Holder?


MS. HOLDER:  No, I'm not.


MR. THOMPSON:  I see.  Well, my recollection is that there was something in the program agreement with Accenture and CWLP that addressed this.  The program agreement is also attached as part of the response to CCC 192.  Can any members of the panel help me with that?


MR. CHIOTTI:  I can't.


MR. THOMPSON:  With where the entitlement to these marketing revenues is to be found.


MR. PLECKAITIS:  No.  This panel cannot help you with that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I will save that for, I guess, the policy panel, then.  Hopefully somebody will know.


Just as an aside, and perhaps I will direct this to Mr. Cass, do you know, Mr. Cass, if the document that has been filed as the program agreement in the confidential filing in this case is the complete document that was filed initially?


MR. CASS:  I don't know.


MR. THOMPSON:  I see.  I will discuss it with you off-line, because I want to get a copy of the complete document, but I won't waste time on that point at the moment.


Just back, then, to the WAMS history where the project was a seven‑year project for a total of $50.3 million.  That was the project that went out to public tender -- well, went out to tender and you made your deal with Accenture on it, correct, as described in the excerpt from the decision that I provided to you?


MR. CHIOTTI:  What went out to tender was a broad RFP seeking proposals on what we could do to advance state of the art of work and asset management within Enbridge Gas Distribution.  That was what was responded to.  We ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  Can I just stop you?  Can I just interrupt you for one sec, Mr. Chiotti, and ask you if what you've described is what is described in paragraph 6.4.1 of Exhibit K4.4?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  This paragraph is what the RFP -- is a paraphrase of what the RFP was about, but I didn't hear that in your question.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's what I was trying to get at, so ‑‑ I didn't mean to cut you off, but --


MR. CHIOTTI:  Fair enough.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- is there something you wanted to add?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Well, just that at the time we filed the work and asset management solution, we were still considering -- and we were, in fact, considering field force transformation at that time, but because of the timing of that rate case, we had not fully analyzed that part of EnVision and we weren't in a position to bring it forward, which is why we only brought forward the WAMS piece, but we indicated that we were looking at field technology, as well, and that's when subsequently we brought the expanded EnVision to the 2005 case.


MR. THOMPSON:  The only point I wanted to make was this.  This was the last RFP, this being the September 2002 RFP to which there was responses.


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so what eventually came to the Board, being a $123 million ten‑year project was never put out to public tender?


MS. HOLDER:  I will ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  Is the answer yes or no?


MS. HOLDER:  The answer is "no".  The public ‑‑ the DPWAMS ‑‑ sorry, let me backtrack.  We sent out the RFP that is described here.  In Accenture's response, it included what we now call WAMS.  It included FFT.


At the time we filed evidence for 2002‑0133, we hadn't finalized the negotiations on the FFT portion and it did not have impact on the test year in question.


I do believe we did discuss it in this case, in examination, but it was not part of the application that we were requesting approval by this Board.


MR. THOMPSON:  So I take that to mean that there was no specific RFP for a 123 ‑‑ for a ten‑year project of the type that you brought to the Board in the last case that led to the ADR agreement?


MS. HOLDER:  There was an RFP sent out that was, as we explained, very broad.  We did not say, Please tender to us a ten-year contract that includes component XYZ, ABC.  We said, Please respond.


The response of Accenture included all of the components that you see in evidence today.


MR. THOMPSON:  But that RFP led to what is described in the K4.4 exhibit?  The response of Accenture to that RFP led to what's described in K4.4?


MS. HOLDER:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  No?  Mr. Chiotti just said yes, I thought.


MS. HOLDER:  I think he said the RFP was appropriately summarized at this paragraph.


MR. THOMPSON:  Hmm.  So there is another RFP, other than the September 2002 RFP?  I thought Mr. Chiotti said quite clearly nothing after September 2002.


MR. CHIOTTI:  Let me try one more time to explain this.  We issued a broad RFP seeking proposals from organizations as to how they might help us move forward and address moving to a state-of-the-art work and asset management situation within the utility.


We had respondents to that RFP.  The respondent that provided the best overall value and spoke to the most compelling opportunities that we could pursue in the work and asset management area was Accenture.


Having selected them through the RFP process, we then began to sit down and work through with them just what it was we were going to ultimately contract for.


At the time that we filed evidence with this rate case, we had progressed in those discussions to the point where we felt confident in talking about the work and asset management side of where we were headed, and that's what we filed, but we were also talking about field force transformation, which was part of their response to that RFP.  


We had not settled at that time on agreeing that we were going to do that part of it, but, subsequently, when we analyzed that and realized the significant increase of benefits that could be achieved by doing that, we then brought that into the overall services contract that we ultimately signed with Accenture.  That was the process we went through.


MR. THOMPSON:  I will just take it one more time and I will leave it.  The relationship with Accenture that eventually led to the $123 million EnVision project emerged as a result of the response to the RFP initiated in September 2002.


MS. HOLDER:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And so that's the only public tender that went out --


MS. HOLDER:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- with respect to what eventually ended up as a $123 million ten‑year project?


MS. HOLDER:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And at this time, this is the Board's decision dated November 7, 2003 reporting on what you told them in that case.  The relationship that had emerged with Accenture as a result of that RFP process was leading to a seven‑year $50.3 million project; right?


MS. HOLDER:  Yes.  However, I believe in evidence we did discuss and talk about the fact that we were dealing with field force transformation, as well.  It was not a matter that needed to be addressed in this case, but it was revealed in this case, brought forward in the next case and filed in its entirety.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  All I think the intervenors are saying is when the full majesty of this thing evolved, it was not put out to public tender.  It was something that evolved as a result of the relationship with Accenture that dated back to the September 2002 RFP, Accenture now being

-- serving EGD through CWLP.  Those are the facts.


MS. HOLDER:  No, those are not the facts.  The response that Accenture gave us from the RFP in September 2002 did talk about field-force transformation.


We had not, at the time that we filed this evidence and were before the Board, finalized those discussions, but it was part of their RFP response.


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry, have you finished?


MR. CHIOTTI:  I have my evidence from the 2005 case in which we tried to summarize the chronology of how we went, in fact, from DPWAMS to WAMS to EnVision.  And I will quote.  This is what would have been referred to then as Exhibit A6, tab 8, schedule 1, page 3 of 15, and this is in reference to what the company said during the previous rate case:

"The company also stated that part of working with Accenture has introduced the company to the idea that going through more of what is termed a field force transformation can deliver much greater gains.  So addressing field requirements will not be just a case of implementing some new devices in the field but, rather, the company will be looking at the processes, at the interaction of the field with the work management centre, and even to the extent of looking at potentially redefining the role of field supervisors.  The company anticipates costs will be more than what was outlined in the original DPWAMS proposal, but by the same token, the benefits are expected to be considerably more, as well."


That is a statement that referred to what we were talking about when RP‑2002‑0133 was presented, and it was to give the chronology of how we were progressing.  So my memory I think is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I won't debate it any longer.  Let me move on.  Just two quick points I want to try to make and I'm hoping I can make them ‑‑ I've got till 4:14, have I?


MS. NOWINA:  Well, originally you didn't, Mr. Thompson, but that's where we are, so go ahead.


MR. THOMPSON:  We start out with DPWAMS of

twenty-something million.  We go to WAMS which is

fifty-something million.  We end up with EnVision, $123 million.  And my question is this:  Did the factor that we were approaching a transition to incentive regulation have any role to play in the size of this project ramping up the way it did?


MS. HOLDER:  None whatsoever.


MR. THOMPSON:  I see.  Well, do you agree that the transition to incentive regulation is a factor that plays in EGD's rate case planning?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  I think it is a consideration that the company is aware of, that it could be moving to some form of incentive regulation, yes.


MS. HOLDER:  Can I just add, the reason why it was not a factor in consideration when we were bringing this proposal forward is, not wanting to sound like a broken record here, but we were trying to find ‑‑ we had to replace the Legacy systems.  We were trying to find value for our ratepayers.  


Corporate governance controls is a matter that is very near and dear to Enbridge's heart, and these systems provide that better governance, better controls.  All that being said, we also recognize that when we got to a period that we were going to be moving to incentive regulation, that all the evidence for this system -- or this project, I should say, would be front and centre to all intervenors; and, being as intelligent as everybody is in this room, we probably would find some way of working the EnVision project with any sort of incentive regulation program that we may anticipate sometime in the future.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, there are a number of points in the evidence where the company talks about ‑ I'm paraphrasing ‑ but planning in anticipation of transition to incentive regulation.  I will just give the references quickly, because we don't need to turn them up.  But it appears, for example, in the annual report, 2004 annual report.  I will give you the reference:  Exhibit I, tab 11, page ‑‑ schedule 10, page 45 in the first paragraph.


Mr. McGill talks about it in a memo in CCC 192, and it might be helpful just to take a look at that to focus on why I asked this question.


If we go to CCC ‑‑ this is a confidential piece, I believe.  Hopefully you will have it.


MS. McCOWAN:  Sorry, what page are you looking at?


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm just trying to find it here.  I had it flagged here.  Hmm ...

     Yes.  If you go ‑‑ it's the November 25, 2004 memo from Mr. McGill to Mr. Schultz.  It's (c).  So I have it, it's Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 192, attachment to responses 12(a) to (i), page 8 of 73, and that then has a memo that is dated November 25, 2004.  That's in handwritten ‑‑ handwriting on page 1.  Then I want to go to the second page, please.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, you won't be referring to the confidential parts of that memo?


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry?


MS. NOWINA:  You will not be referring to the confidential parts of that memo?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I may be.  I don't think so, but let me just find out.  Mr. Cass, do you have -- this sentence here.


[Mr. Thompson refers Mr. Cass to document]


MR. THOMPSON:  I will take a chance.  I don't think it is, but in the third bullet point in this memo, Mr. McGill says this: 

"If EGD finds itself in a position where it needs to replace the Legacy CIS with any long‑term incentive rate plan, the company may not be able to recover the new CIS cost until the utility's costs are re-based at the end of the incentive rate plan."


And that is being said in the context of the need to do something about the CIS contract?


MS. HOLDER:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And all I'm suggesting is that in that spot, and in other spots in the strategic plans and in other places, we see this notion that if you don't get your spending plans in place before incentive regulation comes along, we could be in hot water.


MR. PLECKAITIS:  The way I would characterize ‑‑ first of all, I did acknowledge THAT the company is thinking, contemplating and trying to have to anticipate how it may be impacted if a different form of regulation takes place.  That's only good business practice.


What you heard Janet or Ms. Holder say is that the decision to enter into this particular arrangement, EnVision, in no way was driven one way or the other by the possibility that there may be some form of incentive regulation somewhere into the future.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  My last question is this.  This is about benefits.  You had a certain forecast level of benefits in 2004, I believe, 2005, 2006 and thereafter, and my understanding is that those benefits have been postponed from their original forecast achievement dates; have I got that straight?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  There is a lag in the benefits appearing, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so could that be set out in a chart of the type we were talking about at the outset of the examination:  What they were, what they are, how long they've been delayed and when we'll catch up?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  I believe that has already been filed as evidence.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MR. PLECKAITIS:  It is at ‑‑


MR. CHIOTTI:  It's included in the EnVision evidence, Exhibit A6, tab 5 schedule 2, page 3 of 5, table 1.  We show annual benefits original; we show annual benefits revised.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry to interrupt.  I know we have gone over the time that you said earlier.  I know we're all very interested to complete this panel today.  I myself have scheduling difficulty in the morning, but I thought perhaps we should address your difficulty, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  I do have difficulties.  Mr. Thompson, how much longer for you?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, one last one.


MS. NOWINA:  One last one.  And, Mr. Cass, to your problem, we're going to have to continue with this panel in the morning.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  The question I have, the panel ‑‑ perhaps you can do this by way of undertaking.  The benefits have been delayed, but I assume at some point we're going to catch up, are we?  Is that fair?


MR. CHIOTTI:  Yes.  In our original estimates, we were anticipating benefits to peak in 2006.  As this evidence now indicates, we are expecting it to peak in 2007.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so O&M -- because they're lagging, am I correct O&M costs, to a small degree, and rate‑based costs, to a larger degree, in 2006 are higher than what they would otherwise be had you been on schedule with your benefits?


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And can somebody just provide, by way of undertaking response, what those impacts are on O&M costs and rate‑based costs in 2006?  How much higher are they because your benefits have been delayed?  That's my last question.


MR. PLECKAITIS:  Yes, we will undertake that.


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give that Exhibit (sic) No. J4.7, and we will call it impact on O&M and rate‑based costs of benefits delay.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.7:  IMPACT ON O&M AND RATE‑BASED COSTS OF BENEFITS DELAY

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much, panel.  Madam Chair, Board members, I apologize for inconveniencing everybody, but it's a complicated matter.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Dingwall, will you have questions for this panel?


MR. DINGWALL:  I had a discussion with Mr. Hoey on the break and, as a result of that, we have come up with a suggestion to the Board that was used with some creativity in the CCTA proceeding, another one in which we're mindful of the need for the Board to complete panels in a timely basis and the fact that witnesses do have other lives to live outside of this room.  


So if the Board is content, I understand Mr. Hoey would be content with my proceeding by way of written cross‑examination.  I have a few very brief questions.  I don't see the benefit to the process at large to dragging everybody back in here for questions that could be submitted through Mr. Cass in writing, and then the responses provided on the record in writing.  


I think that would be expeditious, especially at the stage that we're at.  And to clarify, these would be questions on behalf of CME


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. Millar, will you have questions for this panel?


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, Board Staff would have likely not more than two minutes' worth of questions, just one very small matter.  However, I wonder -- Mr. Cass may well wish to re-examine the panel, so we may have to have them back, in any event.


MS. NOWINA:  That was my next question.  Mr. Cass, do you want to -- you will need to re‑examine the panel, I assume.


MR. CASS:  I have accumulated a list of questions, Madam Chair, unfortunately.  I think they would not take long to respond to.  I know the panel itself ‑‑ maybe I should take instructions on re‑examination and see how important it is that we conduct that re‑examination, given the situation we're in.  I have accumulated quite a list of questions.


MR. DINGWALL:  If Mr. Cass has a significant list of questions, there would probably be a lag in my asking and the response if I were to do things by writing.  So if we're going to be here, anyways, I'm happy to proceed orally.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Mr. Cass, I leave it in your hands.  We could go ahead with Mr. Millar's couple of questions if you thought you would have a very short re‑examination, and by that I mean like two minutes.  If not, then you may want to deal with the panel tomorrow.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I'm just afraid, Madam Chair, I couldn't commit that it would be two minutes.  I'm sorry.


MS. NOWINA:  So I would suggest that we continue with the panel tomorrow morning.  All right.  With that, we will ‑‑


MR. CASS:  I was just going to say, Madam Chair, just so the Board is aware, my commitment tomorrow is in relation to this hearing.  I have only a window of opportunity to meet with Monday's panel tomorrow morning.  So in the event that I'm not able to be here, Ms. Persad, I think, could sit in for me, but I want the Board to be aware that my scheduling difficulty is in relation to this same proceeding.


MS. NOWINA:  I appreciate that, Mr. Cass.  With that, we will adjourn until 9 o'clock tomorrow morning.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:20 p.m.
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